

LUND UNIVERSITY

Hormonal regulation of phosphodiesterase 3B in adipocytes

Lindh, Rebecka

2007

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Lindh, R. (2007). Hormonal regulation of phosphodiesterase 3B in adipocytes. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Insulin Signal Transduction]. Lund University, Medical Faculty, Department of Experimental Medical Science.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Hormonal regulation of phosphodiesterase 3B in adipocytes

Rebecka Lindh

Department of Experimental Medical Science Medical Faculty Lund University Sweden



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

©Rebecka Lindh

Medical Faculty Department of Experimental Medical Science

Printed in Sweden Media Tryck AB, Lund, 2007 ISBN 978-91-85559-98-5

To Andreas

Contents

Abstract	5
List of papers	6
Abbreviations	7
INTRODUCTION	8
General background	8
Adipose tissue	9
Adipose tissue in lipid metabolism	9
Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ	11
Adipose tissue and type 2 diabetes	12
Caveolae	14
Caveolin	16
Functions of caveolae	16
Caveolae in adipocytes	17
Insulin signaling	19
cAMP signaling	23
Phosphodiesterase 3B	25
Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDE)	25
The PDE3 family	26
PDE3B in energy metabolism	28
Regulation of PDE3B in adipocytes	30
PRESENT INVESTIGATION	33
Aim	33
Experimental overview	34
PDE3B phosphorylation in adipocytes	36
Background	36
Results and discussion	36
PDE3B localization in adipocytes	40
Background	40
Results and discussion	40
PDE3B interacting proteins in adipocytes	44
Background	44
Results and discussion	45
Concluding remarks	49
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	53
Acknowledgements	55
References	57
Papers I-IV	75

Abstract

Insulin induced activation of the cAMP degrading enzyme phosphodiesterase (PDE) 3B in adipocytes is important for insulin mediated inhibition of lipolysis. The aim of this thesis was to contribute with knowledge on the acute activation of PDE3B in response to insulin and catecholamines in adipocytes. The activation of PDE3B was investigated from three different perspectives namely; phosphorylation of PDE3B, localization of PDE3B and PDE3B interactions with other proteins. As models to study activation of PDE3B we used primary rat and mouse adipocytes, 3T3-L1 adipocytes and caveolin-1 knock out mouse adipocytes.

The study on PDE3B phosphorylation shows that PDE3B is multisite phosphorylated in response to both insulin and catecholamines. We were able to identify six phosphorylation sites on PDE3B namely; 273, S296, S421, S424/5, S474 and S536. From the studies on PDE3B localization we conclude that PDE3B is localized to caveolae and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in adipocytes and that caveolae localized PDE3B is specifically activated by catecholamines while PDE3B in ER is specifically activated by insulin. Finally, the studies on PDE3B interactions demonstrate that insulin and catecholamines stimulate the recruitment of PDE3B into large macromolecular complexes in adipocytes. The recruitment is dependent on caveolin-1 especially in response to insulin and the constituents of the PDE3B macromolecular complexes are dependent on the stimuli used. After insulin stimulation insulin signaling molecules such as protein kinase B (PKB) are associated with PDE3B in the large complex while after catecholamine stimulation adrenergic signaling molecules such as protein kinase A (PKA) are associated with PDE3B.

List of papers

- I. Multisite phosphorylation of adipocyte and hepatocyte phosphodiesterase 3B
 Rebecka Lindh, Faiyaz Ahmad, Svante Resjö, Peter James, Jeong S. Yang, Henry M Fales, Vincent Manganiello, Eva Degerman *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 2007 Apr; 1773(4):584-92*
- II. Plasma membrane cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE3B) is associated with caveolae in primary adipocytes Rebecka Nilsson, Faiyaz Ahmad, Karl Swärd, Ulrika Andersson, Vincent Manganiello, Eva Degerman Cellular Signaling, 2006 Oct; 18(10):1713-2
- III. Insulin-induced formation of macromolecular complexes involved in activation of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE3B) and its interaction with PKB Faiyaz Ahmad, Rebecka Lindh, Marie Weston, Yan Tang, Eva Degerman, Vincent Manganiello Biochemical Journal, 2007 Jun 1; 404(2):257-68
- IV. Differential regulation of PDE3B in distinct membrane compartments of adipocytes in response to insulin and a β₃-adrenergic receptor agonist
 Faiyaz Ahmad, Rebecka Lindh, Yan Tang, Iida Ruishalme, Anita Öst Peter Strålfors, Eva Degerman and Vincent C. Manganiello
 Manuscript

The published articles are reproduced with permission from the publishers Elsevier (paper I and II) and Portland Press Ltd (paper III).

Abbreviations

2D	two dimensional	KO
AC	adenylyl cyclase	LPL
AKAP	A-kinase anchoring proteins	MAP
AMP	adenosine monophosphate	MCP
AS47	47 kDa PKB (Akt) substrate	
ATGL	adipose triglyceride lipase	MGI
ATP	adenosine triphosphate	N-M.
AR	adrenergic receptor	
cAMP	cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-	NHR
	monophosphate	
Cbl	Casitas B-linage lymphoma	PAI
	protein	
cGMP	cyclic guanosine	PDE
	monophosphate	
CL	CL-316243, β_3 -adrenergic	PDK
	agonist	
C-MAD	C-terminal membrane	PH
	attachment domain	PI3K
CNCG	cyclic nucleotide gated ion	
	channel	PKA
CRE	cAMP responsive element	PKB
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide	РКС
	synthase	PM
Epac	exchange protein directly	PP
	activated by cAMP	PPA
ER	endoplasmic reticulum	
FFA	free fatty acid	PtdIı
GAB	GRB2-associated binder	RBP
	protein	S
GDP	guanosine diphosphate	SH
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide-l	Shc
GLUT	glucose transporter	
GMP	guanosine monophosphate	SIRN
GRB	growth factor receptor bound	TID
COL	protein	T2D
GSK	glycogen synthase kinase	TG
GTP	guanosine triphosphate	TNF
HSL	normone sensitive lipase	tPP
HSP	neat shock protein	TZD
IGF	insulin like growth factor	VO
IL ID	interleukin	VLD
IK	insulin receptor	WΤ
IRS	insulin receptor substrate	

KO	knock out
LPL	lipoprotein lipase
MAP	mitogen-activated protein
MCP	monocyte chemoattractant
	protein
MGL	monoglyceride lipase
N-MAD	N-terminal membrane
	attaching domain
NHR	N-terminal hydrophobic
	region
PAI	plasminogen activator
	inhibitor
PDE	cyclic nucleotide
	phosphodiesterase
PDK	phosphoinositide-depentent
	kinase
РН	pleckstrin homology
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol 3-
	kinase
РКА	protein kinase A
PKB	protein kinase B
PKC	protein kinase C
PM	plasma membrane
PP	protein phosphatase
PPARy	peroxiome proliferator-
	activated receptor v
PtdIns	phosphatidylinositol
RBP	retinol binding protein
S	serine
ŠH	src-homology
She	SH2-domain containing
	proteins
siRNA	small interference RNA
T1D	type 1 diabetes
T2D	type 2 diabetes
TG	triglyceride
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor- α
tPP	tryptic phosphopeptide
TZD	thiazolidinedione
Vo	void volume
VLDL	very low density lipoproteins
WT	wild type
	nna type

INTRODUCTION

General background

In humans the main nutrients responsible for generating energy are carbohydrates, fats and proteins. The nutrients enter the bloodstream from the intestine primarily as monosaccharides such as glucose, triglycerides (TG) in chylomicrons and free amino acids or dipeptides [1]. The uptake of the nutrients from the circulation into the cells of the body and biochemical processing of the nutrients are highly regulated. The regulation is controlled by the action of hormones, neurotransmitters, cytokines and the nutrients own signaling pathways. After food intake the increased glucose level in the circulation stimulates insulin secretion from the pancreatic β-cells. Insulin is the main anabolic hormone acting both on lipid and glucose metabolism in adipocytes of the adipose tissue, myocytes of the skeletal muscle and hepatocytes of the liver. In adipocytes the main effects of insulin are to stimulate glucose uptake, stimulate conversion of fatty acids into TGs and to inhibit breakdown of stored TGs. In myocytes the main effects of insulin are stimulation of glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis. In hepatocytes insulin stimulates glycogen synthesis and inhibits glucose production by inhibiting gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis. After a meal, the concentration of glucose decreases in the circulation. Thereby insulin secretion is reduced and other hormones take over the metabolic regulation. One such hormone is glucagon, which is secreted from the pancreatic α -cells. Glucagon primarily acts on the hepatocytes by stimulating cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate (cAMP) production. The increased cAMP levels stimulate gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis which lead to increased glucose output from the liver [1]. Other hormones are the catecholamines; adrenalin and noradrenalin, which are increased in response to stress, physical activity or severe infections. Adrenalin is a hormone secreted from the adrenal medulla and noradrenalin is a neurotransmitter released from the sympathetic nervous system. They both stimulate α - and β -adrenergic receptors (AR) and cAMP production in different types of cells [1]. Increased concentration of cAMP will for example stimulate lipolysis in adipocytes, stimulate glycogenolysis in hepatocytes and inhibit glycogen synthesis in the hepatocytes and myocytes.

In patients with diabetes mellitus the metabolic regulation described above is not working correctly, which leads to elevated levels of circulating glucose and free fatty acids (FFA). The disease is traditionally divided into two types, type 1 diabetes (T1D) which is caused by destruction of the insulin secreting β -cells in pancreas and type 2 diabetes (T2D) which is caused by insulin resistance and

insulin deficiency. T1D develops during childhood or adolescence when β -cells are destroyed, often by an auto-immune reaction, which reduces or abolishes insulin secretion. T2D usually develops later in life and is initiated by increased insulin resistance which is very common in obese patients. The insulin resistance causes increased glucose and lipid load and a higher insulin demand. Individuals who can not uphold high rates of insulin production from the βcells will eventually develop clinically evident diabetes. Two other classes of diabetes are gestational diabetes occurring in 3-5 % of all pregnancies and other specific types of diabetes such as maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY) or latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) are a very small heterogeneous subclass comprising 1-2 % of the diabetic patients [2]. The division of diabetes into T1D and T2D is very categorical and in the future it is likely that we will see a more dimensional classification especially since the genetic and metabolic heterogeneity of diabetes have become clear. In a dimensional classification, diabetes would more or less be a spectrum of diseases where T1D and T2D can be viewed as endpoints in the spectrum instead of categories [3].

Adipose tissue

Looking back 60 years adipose tissue was purely regarded as the body insulator and protector of the body organs from injury. These functions are still valid, but the understanding of adipose tissue functions has greatly expanded since then. There are two types of adipose tissue; white adipose tissue and brown adipose tissue [4]. This thesis focuses on white adipose tissue, which in the following will be referred to as adipose tissue. Primarily adipose tissue is an organ used to store and release energy and today it is also considered to be an endocrine organ since many factors are secreted from the tissue to control a variety of physiologic functions. Human depots of adipose tissue located throughout the body have different functions, for example fat pads of the toes, heels and fingers are purely for mechanical support while the subcutaneous and visceral depots contribute to whole body energy homeostasis [5]. The importance of adipose tissue to control whole body energy homeostasis becomes obvious when looking at lipoatrophic patients that lack adipose tissue and their contrasts, the severely obese patients. In both groups the patients have insulin resistance and a number of other defects connected to deranged whole body energy homeostasis [6, 7].

Adipose tissue in lipid metabolism

In general terms, energy is taken up and stored by adipose tissue during food intake and released in the form of FFAs during fasting. Energy in the form of

TGs are transported in the blood from the intestine in chylomicrons after food intake and from the liver in very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), after both food intake and fasting, to be taken up by the adipose tissue and muscle[1]. TGs from the chylomicrons and VLDL are hydrolyzed to FFAs by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) located on the surface of the capillary endothelium. The FFAs enter the adipocyte and are there re-esterified with glycerol-3-phosphate to form TGs stored as lipid droplets in the adipocyte. Another way for the adipocyte to accumulate FFAs is through de novo synthesis from carbohydrates, in a process called lipogenesis, which occurs in humans during high carbohydrate intake [8]. Most carbohydrates in this process come from glucose taken up into the adipocytes by glucose transporter (GLUT) 4. During fasting the TGs are hydrolyzed to form glycerol and FFAs in a process called lipolysis. FFAs are secreted from the adipocyte and taken up by the liver to form lipoproteins or by the muscle to be used for energy production. Lipolysis is stimulated mainly by catecholamines which are elevated during situations of increased energy demand, for example during physical exercise or stress. Insulin on the other hand, which is elevated during energy intake, inhibits catecholamine stimulated lipolysis. For many years two lipases have been known to be involved in the lipolytic process; hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) [9] and monoglyceride lipase (MGL) [10]. Recently another lipase has been identified and shown to be important for the lipolytic process namely, adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) [11]. From several different studies it seems like ATGL is involved in the first step of TG hydrolysis to form FFA and diacylglycerol (DG), DG is further hydrolysed by HSL to form FFA and monoacylglycerol (MG) which can finally be hydrolysed by MGL to form FFA and glycerol [12, 13]. In response to catecholamines, HSL is phosphorylated on several different sites by protein kinase A (PKA) which generates an activation [14] and translocation of the enzyme to the lipid droplet [15, 16]. At the lipid droplet perilipins cover the surface and thereby limit the HSL access. After catecholamine stimulation HSL gains access to the lipid droplet when PKA phosphorylates perilipin which makes the perilipins translocate away from the droplet [17]. ATGL has been shown to be constantly associated with lipid droplets independent of stimulation and has not yet been shown to be activated by any stimuli [11], although the ATGL mRNA levels can be affected by for example fasting/feeding and glucocorticoids [18]. Insulin inhibits activation of PKA and lipolysis in a cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE) 3B dependant manner, causing inhibition of catecholamine stimulated lipolysis [19]. The signaling cascades responsible for the regulation of lipolysis are illustrated in figure 1 and further discussed in the sections: *insulin signaling* and cAMP signaling.



Figure 1: Hormonal regulation of lipolysis in adipocytes

Catecholamines stimulate lipolysis through binding to the β -adrenergic receptor (β -AR) which induces a rise in cAMP levels and a subsequent stimulation of protein kinase A (PKA) and hormone sensitive lipase (HSL). Stimulated lipolysis is inhibited by insulin which activates cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE) 3B and the hydrolysis of cAMP. Gs; stimulatory G-protein, AC; adenylyl cyclase, peri; perilipin, HSL; hormone sensitive lipase, FFA; free fatty acids, IR; insulin receptor, IRS; insulin receptor substrate, PI3K; phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, PKB; protein kinase B, PDK; phosphoinositide-depentent kinase, Epac; exchange protein directly activated by cAMP, PtdIns; phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate.

Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ

The adipose tissue has been established as an endocrine organ during the last decade. According to Trayhurn et al [20] there are today over 50 proteins/peptides known to be secreted from the adipocyte and thereby called adipokines. A few of these adipokines, like leptin and adiponectin are primarily produced by the adipocytes compared to other cells [21]. The adipokines are structurally diverse and have different physiological effects, for example plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 which maintains vascular haemostasis and angiotensinogen which is involved in the regulation of blood pressure [22, 23]. Most adipokines are however involved in one or two of the following categories; (1) the inflammatory response such as tumor necrosis factor- α

(TNF- α), leptin, interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP) -1 and resistin [20] and/or (2) energy homeostasis such as adiponectin, leptin, TNF- α , omentin, visfatin, resistin and retinol-binding protein (RBP) 4 [5]. When it comes to the regulation of energy homeostasis the adipokines can be divided into two categories the pro-hyperglycemic such as resistin, TNF- α and RBP4 and the anti-hyperglycemic such as leptin, adiponectin, visfatin and omentin [5]. Leptin, which is the most studied adipokine has a large variety of effects. It binds to receptors in hypothalamus to reduce appetite and promote energy expenditure [24]. Leptin also increases insulin sensitivity in muscle and hepatocytes, reduces insulin secretion in β -cells, modulates steroid production from the ovaries and affects immune development [25]. As more and more proteins and peptides are added to the list of adipokines the picture of the adipose tissue as an endocrine organ gets more and more complex.

Adipose tissue and type 2 diabetes

Obesity is associated with a number of health problems such as T2D, cardiovascular disease, insulin resistance and fatty liver disease. Although only 10 % of obese patients have diabetes most of them are insulin resistant [26] and most of the patients with diabetes are obese. The exact mechanisms for the development of diabetes and insulin resistance in response to increased fat mass are still not perfectly clear, but the information on the subject has increased during the last decade. The main mechanisms are based on the fact that obese patients have; (1) high levels of FFA and thereby increased ectopic fat accumulation in liver and muscle and (2) high amounts of inflammatory markers/adipokines and infiltration of macrophages in the adipose tissue.

In both obese and T2D patients levels of FFAs are higher than in control subjects [27]. The higher FFA levels can be a caused by expanded adipose tissue per se or deranged lipid metabolism. Deranged lipid metabolism can be seen especially in patients with high amounts of visceral adipose tissue. Studies have shown strong association between omental fat mass (especially visceral adiposity), dyslipidaemia and T2D, whereas such association was less consistent with respect to subcutaneous fat mass [28]. Adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous fat depots seem to have different metabolic properties, especially regarding regulation of lipolysis [29]. Visceral adipocytes have higher lipolytic rates in response to catecholamines and weaker antilipolytic effects in response to insulin as compared to subcutaneous adipocytes. Large deposits of visceral adipose tissue will thereby generate higher plasma FFA levels than large deposits of subcutaneous adipose tissue [30, 31]. High amounts of FFAs will, especially in a long term perspective, generate fat accumulation in different non-adipose cells. There are however other factors

that effect the ectopic fat accumulation such as leptin levels [32] and the balance between energy delivery/uptake and oxidation [33]. Accumulation of TGs especially in skeletal muscle cells, hepatocytes and β-cells seem to correlate with increased insulin resistance and diabetes [34, 35]. In skeletal muscle cells one hypothesis for the correlation between TG accumulation and development of insulin resistance could be the inhibition of hexokinase which causes decreased glucose disposal and uptake [36]. This hypothesis has during the last decade been challenged by evidence indicating that it is an impaired insulin stimulated glucose uptake per se which is responsible for the decresed glucose disposal in T2D patients and not hexokinase [37]. FFA affect glucose transport by activating protein kinase C (PKC) which in turn serine phosphorylates insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1 and inhibits the insulin signal [38]. In hepatocytes the effect of increased TG accumulation is not entirely clear, but studies indicate that the activity of PKC is increased in hepatocytes of fatty livers and in livers of T2D patients. The activated PKC leads to decreased insulin signaling and decreased glycogen synthesis and increased gluconeogenesis [33]. In β-cells, exposure of FFAs during a short time period causes increased insulin secretion [39]. This stimulatory effect is however reversed during chronic exposure of FFAs which causes accumulation of TGs in the β -cells, dysfunction of insulin release and eventually apoptosis of the β cell [32].

In addition to a correlation between obesity and high levels of FFAs, there is a strong correlation between obesity and high concentrations of inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein and IL-6 indicating the presence of a chronic, low-grade inflammation in obese patients [40, 41]. It is now apparent that the inflammation is caused by increased secretion of different proinflammatory adipokines such as TNF-a, IL-6, MCP-1, leptin and reduced secretion of the anti-inflammatory adiponectin from adipose tissue [41]. In addition to increased inflammatory markers, obese patients also have an increased number of infiltrated macrophages in adipose tissue [42, 43]. The macrophages are immune cells that secrete cytokines and protect mammals from invading danger. Macrophages, preadipocytes and adipocytes share several common features and there have been reports suggesting that the macrophages infiltrating the adipose tissue come from trans-differentiated preadipocytes [44]. More likely though, is that the majority of the adipose tissue macrophages are derived from circulating monocytes infiltrating the adipose tissue [43], recruited by MCP-1 (also called C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL-2)) secreted from the adipose tissue [45, 46]. The chronic activation of pro-inflammatory pathways can be a mechanism for development of insulin resistance [41]. The mechanism for the development of insulin resistance has especially been studied for TNF- α , which causes inhibitory

serine phosphorylation of IRS-1. The serine phosphorylation reduces both insulin induced tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and the ability of IRS-1 to interact with the insulin receptor (IR) [47].

During development of obesity adipose tissue undergoes extensive remodeling, which is dependent on the coordinated interplay between increased adipocyte size, increase in number of adipocytes (adipogenesis) and angiogenesis [48]. The differentiation of preadipocytes to adipocytes during adipogenesis involves a very complex process, but one "master switch" has been identified to be the transcription factors peroxiome proliferators-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) specifically expressed in adipocytes [49]. Interestingly a class of PPARy agonists called thiazolidinedione (TZD), reduces insulin resistance in patients with T2D, which highlights a central role for adipocytes in the development of insulin resistance and as a target for drug design. The increased adipogenesis in response to TZD lowers the lipid load in other tissues and thereby reduces the lipotoxic effects. Additional studies have shown that TZDs increase the secretion of high molecular weight adiponectin, the adipokine which is antiinflammatory and improves insulin sensitivity [50]. Whether improvement of insulin sensitivity in response to TZD is mainly an effect of decreased lipid load or reduced inflammatory status of the adipose tissue is not known, but most likely both effects are important. In summary it seems likely that the adipokine/inflammatory status together with the lipid load are important for the development of T2D and insulin resistance in obese patients.

Caveolae

Caveolae which is Latin for "little caves" was first described in 1955 by Yamada when he studied epithelial cells from gallbladder with transmission electron microscopy [51]. He observed 50-100 nm invaginations of the plasma membranes (PM) which he called *caveolae intracellulare*. These structures were clearly different form the larger and more electron-dense, clathrin-coated pits. It then took another 40 years of research in the field of membrane biology and the discovery of the membrane protein family of caveolins to discover the molecular nature of the caveolae, seen in figure 2B. During the last decade it has become evident that membranes can co-exist in two different forms namely the liquid-ordered and the liquid-disordered state. The liquid-disordered state consists of phospholipids in a fairly loose structure with quite low levels of cholesterol. Among this loose lipid composition are regions of the liquidordered state which are more rigid structures composed of cholesterol and shingolipids, also called lipid-rafts. The biochemical property of caveolae resembles that of the liquid-ordered state and lipid-raft with high concentration



Figure 2: Caveolae and caveolin-1

A, structure of caveolin-1 with palmitoyl groups, C-terminal membrane attachment domain (C-MAD), double-pass transmembrane domain (TMD), N-terminal membrane attaching domain (N-MAD) and oligomerization domain (D). **B**, organization of caveolae membrane, with oligomers of caveolin-1 (illustrated as dimers for simplicity), cholesterol and high concentration of sphingolipids. **C**, caveolae of the intracellular face of the plasma membrane from primary human adipocytes. Transmission electron micrograph prepared by Anita Öst and Iida Ruishalme.

of cholesterol and sphingolipids (glycosphingolipids and sphingomyelin) [52]. What then distinguishes caveolae from lipid-rafts is its morphology at the PM and the presence of the stabilizing protein caveolin [53]. Caveolin was identified to be a component of the caveolae membrane coat in 1992 by Rothberg et al [54] and since then the knowledge about the caveolae has exploded into various fields such as cellular trafficking and signaling. The knowledge has been applied in many different systems since caveolae are found in many cell types, although they are most abundant in adipocytes, fibroblasts, smooth and striated muscle cells, epithelial cells and type 1 pneumocytes [53].

Caveolin

Caveolin exists in three isoforms, caveolin-1, -2 and -3, which are 21-24 kDa proteins that are located on the cytoplasmic surface of the caveolae [53, 55-57]. The tissue expression of the isoforms is diverse, caveolin -1 and -2 are mostly expressed in adipocytes, endothelial cells, pneumocytes, smooth muscle cells and fibroblast where the expression of caveolin-2 is dependent on the caveolin-1 expression [58]. Caveolin-3 is expressed mostly in skeletal and cardiac myocytes [56]. The expression of these isoforms fully correlates with the presence of caveolae in these tissues. The structure of caveolin-1, which is the most studied isoform can be viewed in figure 2A. The C-terminal domain has three palmitolated cysteins [59] and one C-terminal membrane attachment domain (C-MAD) [60]. The middle part consists of one double-pass transmembrane region, one N-terminal membrane attaching domain (N-MAD) and an important oligomerization domain, which can form oligomers containing 14-16 monomers of caveolin-1 or caveolin-1 together with caveolin-2 [53, 60]. Caveolin-1 is important for the formation of caveolae, recruitment of numerous signaling molecules to the PM and the regulation of the activity of interacting proteins [61].

Functions of caveolae

Caveolae and caveolins have been suggested to be involved in several cellular functions such as endocytosis, transcytosis, mechanosensing, cholesterol homoestasis, lipid synthesis and cell signaling control. The exact involvement of caveolae and caveolin in many of these functions is however unknown. The involvement of caveolae in endocytosis is under debate. It has been shown that caveolae are remarkably stable and are not involved in constitutive endocytosis [62, 63]. There are however some agents that can induce endocytosis of caveolae, these are cholesterol, glycosphingolipids [64] and also certain viruses and toxins like SV40 virus, cholera toxin and tetanus toxin. It has been shown that these agents, viruses and toxins stimulate endocytosis of caveolae to Golgi apparatus or endoplasmic reticulum (ER) via the caveosome but not to the endosome, which is the normal route for clatrin-coated pits [53]. Regarding mechanosensing, caveolae might be important for the ability to sense membrane tensions or other changes of the physical properties of the plasma membrane, which could be important in for example remodeling of blood vessels [65]. The involvement of caveolae in cholesterol homoestasis is without doubt. There is a unique relationship between caveolins/caveolae and cholesterol, where caveolin-1 can bind 1-2 molecules of cholesterol and acts as a "delivery device" for cholesterol [66]. The relationship between caveolin and cholesterol is also supported by the fact that the caveolin-1 gene has a sterol

regulatory element and by the fact that adding free cholesterol causes the level of caveolin-1 mRNA to increase [53].

Caveolae are often described as communication platforms where signals can be effectively transduced and where cross-talk between different signaling pathways can occur. This idea was first described by Lisanti et al [67] as they found that a majority of the proteins associated with caveolae compared to the rest of the plasma membrane were signal transduction molecules. Since then the list of caveolae associated proteins has dramatically expanded with signaling proteins including receptors, downstream targets, channels, enzymes etc., but the relevance of the caveolae localization and to what extent the identified proteins are specifically located in caveolae can be questioned for some of the studies [65]. What is known for sure though, is that caveolae are important in G-protein coupled signaling [68], endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) signaling [53, 65] and insulin signaling [69, 70]. Interestingly accumulating evidence proves that the caveolin molecule can act as a scaffolding protein by directly interacting with different signaling molecules and modulate the activity of the interacting protein. In most cases interactions have been shown to inactivate signals, although for the insulin receptor the interaction seems to be generating the opposite effect [71].

The various functions of caveolae imply an important role of them in different disease conditions [72]. For example it has been shown that caveolin-1 acts as a tumor suppressor and mutations in the caveolin-1 gene have been found in a variety of human cancers [73]. Caveolin-3 has instead been shown to be important in the development of muscular dystrophy. A mutation in the caveolin-3 gene in humans has been identified to cause hypertrophic cardiomyopathy [74] and caveolin-3 knock out (KO) mice have mild myopathic changes [75]. The important role of caveolae and caveolin in lipid metabolism and insulin signaling in adipocytes and how defects in caveolae and caveolae and caveolae the development of diabetes are discussed in the next section [69].

Caveolae in adipocytes

Adipocytes have a very high quantity of caveolae as seen on electron micrographs of the adipocyte PM, figure 2C. Based on ultrastructural comparisons, the adipocyte seems to have higher concentrations of caveolae that any other cell and caveolae seem to account for around 30 % of the surface area of the PM. To study the functions of caveolae in different tissues the caveolin-1 KO mice were developed by two different research groups [76, 77]. The caveolin-1 KO mice totally lacked caveolin and caveolae in tissues where

caveolin-1 normaly is expressed. In the adipocyte the main caveolin isoforms expressed are caveolin-1 and -2, but since the expression of caveolin-2 is dependent on the caveolin-1 expression, the adipocytes from the caveolin-1 KO mice totally lacked caveolae [78]. The caveolin-1 KO mice were lean and resistant to diet induced obesity compared to the caveolin-1 wild type (WT) mice, suggesting that the cavolin-1 deficient mice have problems with lipid metabolism or adipocyte function [78]. The adipose tissue from the caveolin-1 KO mice was further analyzed morphologically. The adipocytes in the tissue were poorly differentiated, smaller and had a smaller lipid droplet than adipocytes from the caveolin-1 WT animals. In the same study it was also shown that the caveolin-1 KO mice had higher levels of TGs, higher amount of post-prandial FFA and lower leptin and adiponectin levels in the circulation [78]. Together the results clearly show that caveolae are important for systemic lipid homeostasis and caveolae deficient adipocytes do not have a normal TG storage capacity. Adipocytes from the caveolin-1 KO mice have also been isolated and further characterized regarding lipid metabolism. Results from a study by Cohen et al [79] showed that adipocytes from caveolin-1 KO mice have reduced lipolytic activity in response to a β_3 -adrenergic receptor (AR) agonist compared to caveolin-1 WT mouse adipocytes. The reduced lipolytic response was shown to be an effect of depleted perilipin phosphorylation which reduces the HSL access to the lipid droplet. Interestingly PKA, which phosphorylates perilipin was highly present and active in the KO mice, indicating that caveolin-1 facilitates the PKA-mediated phosphorylation of perilipin. In the same study it was also shown that caveolin-1, perilipin and PKA form a tight complex in response to a β_3 -AR agonist in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, which is also supported by a study showing that PKA can interact with caveolin-1 [80]. The reduced lipolytic response can however not explain the small lipid droplets in adipocytes of the caveolin-1 KO mice. The small droplets can however be explained by studies suggesting a role for caveolin-1 also in lipid droplet formation [79, 81]. A very interesting study by Öst et al [82] showed that TGs can be synthesized in a specific subclass of caveolae. Caveolae and caveolin-1 thereby seem to have an important role in the regulation of TG breakdown, formation and storage, but the exact regulatory mechanisms for caveolae and caveolin-1 in adipocyte lipid metabolism remain to be unraveled.

The idea that caveolae provide microdomains, which generate closeness of proteins in different signaling cascades, is interesting. The important role of caveolae and caveolin-1 as scaffolding device to generate specific signal transduction in a compartmentalized manner has been shown for β -adrenergic receptor signaling [83]. This concept can perhaps be expanded to other signaling pathways like the insulin signaling pathway in adipocytes. It has been

shown that the IR is located in caveolae in adipocytes by different microscopic and caveolae isolation methods [70, 84]. The IR has also been shown to interact with caveolin-1 and -3 in a stimulatory fashion [71]. In addition GLUT4 has been found to translocate to caveolae in adipocytes [69, 85]. The important role for caveolae and caveolin in insulin signaling is supported by results from the caveolin-1 KO [86] and caveolin-3 KO [87] mice. The caveolin-1 KO mice were less responsive to insulin in vivo and developed hyperinsulinemia after high fat feeding as compared to caveolin-1 WT mice. These results were probably due to the reduction of IR levels by 90%, in the adipocytes. The caveolin-3 KO mice were insulin resistant and glucose intolerant. The effects were mainly attributed to the skeletal muscle, although defects could surprisingly also be seen in both adipocytes and hepatocytes where no caveolin-3 is expressed indicating indirect effects on these tissues. Without doubt a lot of evidence support an important role for caveolae in adipocyte insulin signaling, but there are contradictory data especially regarding the localization of the IR to caveolae and the translocation of GLUT4 to caveolae in response to insulin [88, 89]. The differences in the results regarding caveolae localization of the IR can however be explain by a recent study which showed that the IR is associated with the neck of caveolae in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and that the caveolae neck and bulb have different solubility [90]. Small differences in experimental protocols of caveolae enrichment techniques will thereby generate totally different results regarding the localization of the IR.

Insulin signaling

After insulin binds its receptor different signaling cascades are initiated, which leads to cell growth, differentiation and, most important for this thesis, different metabolic effects as seen in figure 3. The main metabolic effects of insulin include increased glucose uptake in muscle cells and adipocytes, inhibition of glucose production in hepatocytes and promoted storage of energy substrates in hepatocytes, adipocytes and muscle cells. The increased storage of energy is an effect of stimulated lipogenesis, glycogen synthesis and protein synthesis and inhibited lipolysis, glycogenolysis and protein breakdown [1]. Exactly which effects that are initiated when insulin binds its receptor are dependent on several different features of the recipient cell; cell-specific expression of signaling molecules such as IRS substrates, kinases and lipases, intrinsic activities of signaling molecules, cell-specific localization of signaling molecules and multiprotein complexes.

The IR is a receptor tyrosine kinase which belongs to the insulin receptor family together with the structurally related insulin like growth factor (IGF) receptor and the insulin related receptor for which no ligand has been found [91]. The IR is tetrameric with two α -subunits connected to each other by one disulfide bond and two β -subunits, each connected to one α -subunit by one disulfide bond. The α -subunits are located entirely on the outside of the PM and contain the insulin binding sites. Without insulin the α -subunits inhibit the tyrosine kinase activity of the β -subunits located inside the cell. Upon insulin binding the inhibition disappears and the kinase activity of the β -subunits leads to trans-phosphorylation of the IR, which generates conformational changes of the IR that further increase the tyrosine kinase activity of the receptor [92]. Several substrates for the activated IR have been identified, which is illustrated in figure 3. Among these are the IRS 1-6 [93, 94], various SH2-domain containing proteins (Shc) [95], GRB2-associated binder protein (GAB)-1 [96] and Casitas B-linage lymphoma protein (Cbl) [97]. Some of the substrates can dock to the phosphotyrosines of the IR with phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) or Src-homology (SH)-2 domains. In turn the phosphorylated tyrosines of the IR substrates can act as docking sites for proteins such as the SH2 containing proteins phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and growth factor receptor bound protein (GRB) 2. These proteins thereby become activated and/or associate with other downstream signaling molecules to set off cascades of signaling events.

Some of the most important mitogenic effects of insulin are mediated through GRB-2 signaling. After insulin binds its receptor the IR substrates; IRS, GAB-1 and Shc are phosphorylated and bind to GRB-2 which activates the mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase pathway. The activated MAP kinase cascade leads to different proliferative effects [98]. The majority of the metabolic effects are mediated by the IRS-PI3K signaling pathway which is discussed below, but there is also the Cbl pathway which mediates glucose uptake. The Cbl protein is recruited to the trans-phosphorylated IR by APS (adaptor protein containing pleckstrin homology and SH3) where it is phosphorylated. Following Cbls recruitment and phosphorylation it relocalizes to lipid rafts via binding to Cbl associated protein (CAP), which interacts with Cbl via a SH3 domain and to lipid rafts via interactions with flotillin [97]. The recruitment to lipid rafts generates activation of additional proteins which cause membrane translocation of the intracellular glucose transporter, GLUT4 [99].

The IRS proteins are particularly important among the IR substrates, as they mediate most of insulin's metabolic effects and also some mitogenic effects. The N-terminal part of the IRS isoforms has one pleckstrin homology (PH)



Figure 3: Overview of insulin signaling pathways

Insulin binds its receptor and initiates different signaling cascades which leads to different cellular effects. IR; insulin receptor, APS; adaptor protein, CAP; Cbl associated protein, Cbl; casitas B-linage lymphoma protein, Shc; SH2-domain containing proteins, GAB; GRB2-associated binder protein, IRS; insulin receptor substrate, PI3K; phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, PKB; protein kinase B, PDK; phosphoinositide-depentent kinase, GSK; glycogen synthase kinase, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase and FOXO which is a transcription factor.

domain and one PTB domain which are both important for binding to the IR. The C-terminal part of the proteins is less conserved and contains multiple tyrosine phosphorylation sites. For example IRS-1 contains 21 potential tyrosine phosphorylation sites of which several have been shown to be phosphorylated in response to insulin [94]. The different IRS isoforms have both distinct and overlapping signaling properties, tissue distribution and subcellular localization [100]. The IRS-1 and -2 are for example both associated with intracellular membranes, whereas IRS-3 and -4 are located at the PM [101]. The most widely distributed isoforms are IRS-1 and -2. Studies from IRS-1 and IRS-2 KO mice indicate that IRS-2 plays a major role in hepatocyte insulin signaling and pancreatic beta cell growth/differentiation while the IRS-1 isoform plays a major role in the adipose tissue and skeletal muscle [102, 103]. The exact role for the other isoforms are more difficult to dissect as the IRS-3 and -4 KO mice only show mild defects [104] [105] and the IRS-5 and -6 isoforms have very low tissue expression.

PI3K, which interacts with IRS proteins, is one key player in the insulin signaling network. Class IA PI3K is the major type of PI3K, which is activated by receptor tyrosine kinases like the IR [106]. Class IA PI3Ks are tightly bound heterodimeres with a 110 kDa catalytic subunit and a smaller regulatory subunit. The catalytic subunit is one out of three different isoforms, $p_{110\alpha}$, p110ß or p1108 and the regulatory subunit is one out of the five isoforms, $p85\alpha$, $p85\beta$, $p85\gamma$, $p55\alpha$ and $p50\alpha$ [107]. In resting cells the regulatory subunit stabilizes the catalytic subunit and conformationally inhibits the lipid kinase activity of the catalytic subunit [108]. In insulin stimulated cells the PI3K heterodimer is recruited to specific phosphotyrosine residues on IRS proteins by the two SH2 domains in the regulatory domain. The recruitment brings the catalytic subunit in proximity to its lipid substrate, allowing it to generate phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate (PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃) [109]. There has been some debate regarding the true physiological substrate of the Class I PI3K, but it is now generally considered that $PtdIns(4,5)P_2$ is the substrate to form PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃. The other "activating" PtdIns, PtdIns(3,4)P₂ is indirectly generated from PI3K since it is a breakdown product of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ created by the SH2-containing inositol phosphatase, SHIP [107]. The PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ and PtdIns(3,4)P₂ are the major signals generated from Class I PI3K although it is likely that PI3K also is involved in additional protein-protein interactions or scaffolding functions in signaling complexes. For example activated PI3Ky (with $p110\gamma$) is thought to bind PDE3B in the heart, independent of its lipid kinase activity [110]. The generated $PtdIns(3,4,5)P_3/PtdIns(3,4)P_2$ can interact with several proteins containing PH domains such as phosphoinositide dependent kinase (PDK)-1, protein kinase B (PKB) and atypical isoforms of protein kinase C (aPKC). The interaction between $PtdIns(3,4,5)P_3/$ PtdIns $(3,4)P_2$ and the PH domain translocates the PH domain containing protein from the cytosol to the membrane which brings it into close proximity with substrates or binding partners. The interaction itself can in certain cases also regulate the protein activity since binding of $PtdIns(3,4,5)P_3/PtdIns(3,4)P_2$ to a PH domain can depress an intermolecular inhibition mediated by the PH domain. PDK-1 is constitutively active independent of PH domain binding and has a major role in the PI3K dependent activation of PKB and aPKC [111]. The binding of PKB and PDK-1 to PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃/PtdIns(3,4)P₂ makes PDK-1 come in close proximity to Thr308/9 of PKB α/β which becomes phosphorylated [107]. In addition to Thr308/9, PKB is also phosphorylated at Ser473/4, in response to insulin, by TORC2, a complex of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), rictor and G-protein β -subunit like protein (G β L) [112, 113].

PKB is a serine/threonine kinase that exists in three isoforms PKBa, PKBB and PKBγ (also known as AKT1-3). Both PKBα and PKBβ are widely expressed, while PKB γ is present mainly in the nervous system. The PKB β is particularly abundant in insulin sensitive tissues such as the adipose tissue and interestingly mice lacking PKB^β develop diabetes [114]. PKB has numerous intracellular targets, which mediate a large number of metabolic effects. One example of a PKB target is PDE3B which is phosphorylated and activated by PKB and inhibits catecholamine stimulated lipolysis by hydrolysing cAMP (figure 1). Another target of PKB is glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3, which is deactivated by the phosphorylation of PKB causing activation of glycogen synthase and production of glycogen [115, 116]. The transcription factor FOXO1 is also phosphorylated by PKB. The phosphorylated FOXO1 interacts with 14-3-3 and is thereby kept in the cytosol and cannot activate the transcription of gluconeogeneic enzymes or suppress genes involved in for example lipogenesis [117]. Insulin's signaling pathways and effects are summarized in figure 3.

cAMP signaling

An important mediator of intracellular signaling is cAMP. This second messenger controls a variety of metabolic effects such as gluconeogenesis, lipolysis and glycogenolysis as well as differentiation, proliferation, secretory processes, muscle contraction and apoptosis. As illustrated in figure 4, cAMP is generated from ATP by adenylyl cyclase (AC), which occurs at the PM in



Figure 4: Synthesis and degradation of cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate (cAMP) AC; adenylyl cyclase, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase.

response to various hormones and neurotransmitters. AC is activated in response to specific hormones and neurotransmitters which bind to their G_s protein coupled receptors. The activated receptor leads to an exchange of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) to guanosine triphosphate (GTP) at the α -subunit of the heterotrimeric G-protein, G_s . The GTP bound α -subunit dissociates from the whole G_s and can then bind and activate AC [118]. The most common type of GPCRs coupled to G_s are the β -AR (β_1 -AR, β_2 -AR, β_3 -AR), which bind adrenalin and noradrenalin. The β_1 -AR and β_2 -AR are broadly distributed throughout the tissues of the body while β_3 -AR is found mainly in adipocytes [119]. The generated cAMP diffuses throughout the cell to its effector proteins as seen in figure 5. PKA is one important effector which is activated upon cAMP binding and can phosphorylate a myriad of substrates

for example perilipin and HSL in adipocytes. Other ways through which cAMP exerts its effects are via the activation of cyclic nucleotide gated ion channels (CNGC) which is involved in transduction of olfactory and visual signals [120]. cAMP can also bind and activate Epac (Exchange protein directly



Figure 5: Overview of cAMP signaling pathways

Catecholamines bind the β -adrenergic receptor (β -AR) which gives rise to production of cAMP, which stimulates different signaling cascades. G_s; stimulatory G-protein, AC; adenylyl cyclase, PKA; protein kinase A, Epac; exchange protein directly activated by cAMP, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, CNG; cyclic nucleotide gated, HSL; hormone sensitive lipase, Rap; small GTPases.

activated by cAMP) proteins which are guanine-nucleotide-exchange factors (GEF) for the small GTPases Rap1 and Rap2 [121]. Epac proteins havemultiple biological functions; they mediate cell adhesion, cell-cell junction formation or exocytosis for example during insulin secretion. Finally cAMP can also bind to the catalytic domain of PDEs. At this location cAMP is hydrolysed to adenosine monophosphate (AMP). The intracellular concentrations of cAMP are tightly regulated and seem to be temporally, spatially and functionally compartmentalized. For example it has been shown that β -cells respond to glucagon and GLP-1 with marked cAMP oscillations [122]. The cAMP oscillations seemed to be important for local rapid events such as exocytosis while prolonged cAMP elevation instead mediated cell survival and proliferative signals. The tight regulation is facilitated primarily by AC and PDEs, which together thereby modulate the specificity, duration and intensity of the cAMP signals. The specificity of the cAMP signal is also generated by the intracellular organization of signaling proteins within the cell [123, 124]. The organization is facilitated by different anchoring proteins, for example A-kinase anchoring proteins (AKAP) keep PKA to distinct subcellular locations, which makes PKA ready to respond to local cAMP concentrations. Recently AKAPs have also been suggested to be important for the organization of PDEs [125].

Phosphodiesterase 3B

Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDE)

PDEs were discovered 40 years ago [126, 127] approximately the same time as the discovery of cyclic nucleotides. Since then the understanding of the PDEs has increased markedly, although the more we understand, the more complex the emerging picture of the PDEs becomes. A phosphodiesterase is an enzyme that catalyzes the hydrolysis of phosphodiester bonds and in this work the focus has been on the class I cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases. This group is highly specific for catalyzing the hydrolysis of the 3'cyclic phosphate bond of cAMP and/or cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) generating AMP guanosine monophosphate (GMP) respectively. The cGMP system will not be discussed further since the focus of this thesis is on cAMP. The production of cAMP from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) achieved by AC and the hydrolysis by PDE is illustrated in figure 4. The PDEs are highly regulated and keep the cAMP under tight control, which is important considering the many functions of cAMP in different tissues. Another fact that points to the important role of PDEs is the identification of 21 PDE genes in mouse, rats and humans which is estimated to give rise to >100 different mRNA products [128]. Although not all protein products from the different mRNAs have been identified, most products

do have different physiological effects. These effects range from cell division and metabolism to immunological aspects and light perception.

To keep track of the different PDEs, a common nomenclature has been decided upon. The PDEs have been categorized into 11 different families (PDE1-11) based on enzymatic properties such as specificity for its substrates (cAMP/cGMP), kinetic properties and structural similarities. Structural domains present in the members of some families include small molecular binding (GAF) domains, Ca2+/calmodulin (CaM) binding domains, N-terminal hydrophobic regions (NHR) domains, upstream conserved regions (UCR), response regulator receiver (REC) and per-arnt-sim (PAS) domain[129]. The activity and localization of PDEs are very well regulated by different mechanisms such as binding of cGMP (in the GAF-domains), binding of Ca²⁺/calmodulin, phosphorylations, interactions with regulatory proteins and alteration in gene expression. To add to this complexity the cells have organized the PDEs in a brilliant way to generate well regulated cAMP/cGMP levels. For example cardiac myocytes express several different PDEs and these are localized to different compartments and signaling complexes, which control local concentrations of cAMP/cGMP [130].

To unravel the role of the different families and subfamilies in the complex group of PDEs it has been important with family specific PDE inhibitors and KO animals lacking specific subfamilies of PDEs. KO animals lacking the PDE subfamilies PDE1B, 3A, 3B, 4A, 4B, 4C or 4D and family selective inhibitors have been developed by research groups and pharmaceutical companies as the involvement of PDEs in many pathological conditions has emerged[128]. Unfortunately none of the inhibitors are specific to subfamilies and most of them are only partly family specific like Sildenafil also known as Viagra[©] from Pfizer. This is a PDE5 specific inhibitor, although it inhibits PDE6 as well with a higher IC₅₀ value. Currently the catalytic domain of seven PDE families [128] have been crystalized and hopefully this will generate more subfamily specific inhibitors to use both as pharmaceuticals with less side effects and as tools to gain understanding of the complex functions and regulation of PDEs.

The PDE3 family

Among the first to study phosphodiesterases in adipocytes were Loten et al [131] and Manganiello et al [126] in the 1970s. It was found that a "low Km cAMP phosphodiesterase" was present in adipocytes and could be stimulated by insulin [131]. A particulate "low Km cAMP phosphodiesterase" was later found to be the main target of insulin stimulation [132, 133]. These studies led to the identification of the adipocyte insulin sensitive PDE now called PDE3B

[134, 135]. The PDE3 family is distinguished from other PDEs mainly by three features; (1) The PDE3 family has the ability to hydrolyze both cAMP and cGMP with high affinity (K_m around 0.1-0.8 μ M) in a competitive manner; (2) The PDE3 family has a much lower maximal velocity (V_{max}) for cGMP than cAMP and has therefore been called the cGMP inhibited low K_m phosphodiesterase; (3) The PDE3 family is sensitive to specific inhibitors like milrinone, cilostamide, cilostazol and enoxione.

The PDE3 proteins are the products of two different, but highly related genes, which give rise to the subfamilies PDE3A and PDE3B [135, 136]. The PDE3A gene encodes three different isoforms PDE3A1, PDE3A2 and PDE3A3 [137, 138] while the PDE3B gene generates one isoform. The overall predicted structural organization of PDE3A1 and PDE3B is identical, while PDE3A2, and PDE3A3 are shorter versions of PDE3A1. The N-terminal part, which is shorter in the PDE3A2 and PDE3A3 isoforms, contains a regulatory domain with hydrophobic regions. PDE3B is a 135 kDa protein with around 1100 amino acids depending on the species. As shown in figure 6 the most N-terminal part of PDE3B contains a large hydrophobic region with 5-6 predicted transmembrane helical segments, NHR1 followed by a smaller hydrophobic region, NHR2 [139].The C-terminal part of PDE3 has a conserved catalytic domain followed by a hydrophilic region. The catalytic domain is similar among all PDEs, but the PDE3 family contains a 44aa insert that does not align with sequences in the corresponding regions of other PDEs and differs between



Figure 6: Structure of PDE3B

Predicted structure of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE) 3B. NHR; N-terminal hydrophobic regions.

PDE3A and PDE3B [135, 136]. PDE3B and PDE3A appear to have distinct distributions although some overlap occurs. After in situ hybridization, Northern blot or immunohistochemical analysis PDE3B is found in white and brown adipocytes, hepatocytes, renal collecting epithelium, spermatocytes, βcells and developing brain while PDE3A is found in platelets, heart, vascular smooth muscle cells, developing brain and oocytes [19, 140, 141]. In some types of cells the functional role of the enzyme has been studied using PDE3 inhibitors, which suggests a role for PDE3A in cAMP-mediated processes like platelet aggregation, vascular and airway smooth muscle relaxation, oocyte maturation, inflammation and cell proliferation and a role for PDE3B in insulin secretion and lipolysis [19, 142]. Studies on the PDE3A and PDE3B KO mice have made it possible to further evaluate the role of each subfamily. In a study comparing PDE3B and PDE3A KO mice it was shown that PDE3A is the dominant PDE3 isoform that regulates platelet aggregation, peripheral vascular relaxation and cardiac contractility. It has also been shown that the PDE3A KO female mice are infertile since the meiotic maturation of oocytes is blocked, which is not the case for the PDE3B KO mice [143]. Roles of the different PDE3 isoforms have also been studied to some extent. For example in the human myocardium different roles for the PDE3A isoforms in the regulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum and cytosolic cAMP levels have been suggested [144].

PDE3B in energy metabolism

PDE3B is highly abundant in cells important for regulation of normal energy metabolism like adipocytes, hepatocytes and pancreatic β-cells. The presence of PDE3B in these cell types implies an important role for this enzyme in regulating different metabolic processes. In adipocytes the role of PDE3B has been studied extensively and it is now well established that PDE3B is rapidly activated in response to insulin and that this activation is important in antagonizing catecholamine stimulated lipolysis. By using selective PDE3 inhibitors PDE3B has been shown to be essential for the antilipolytic actions of insulin in isolated rat adipocytes [145], 3T3-L1 adipocytes [146] and human adipose tissue in vivo [147]. Furthermore, insulin-induced PDE3B activation in adipocytes has been shown to be important for both insulin stimulated glucose uptake and lipogenesis [148-150]. A recent study from 2007 shows that insulin in a PDE3B dependant manner restores cAMP-suppressed expression and secretion of leptin and adiponectin in adipocytes [151]. In addition to insulin catecholamine and forskolin can also rapidly stimulate PDE3B in adipocytes [152-154]. The catecholamine induced activation of PDE3B is probably a negative feedback mechanism of increased cAMP and hinders an excessive increase of cAMP. In hepatocytes PDE3B has not been studied as extensively as in adipocytes, but it has been shown that PDE3B is activated in response to

leptin, glucagon, insulin and growth hormone [155-157]. The exact role for the activation is not yet established although studies using different cAMP analogs indicate a role for PDE3 in reducing glucagon stimulated glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis [158]. Furthermore it has been shown that isolated hepatocytes incubated with PDE3 inhibitors have increased glycogenolysis, gluconeogenesis [159] and glucose output [160] compared to control cells. As seen on electron micrographs of mice livers in figure 9, PDE3B seems to be localized primarily to smooth ER of the hepatocytes, which indicates that PDE3B is involved in metabolic processes since smooth ER is the main compartment of synthetic metabolic processes such as lipid syntehsis [161].

When it comes to pancreatic β -cells it has been shown that PDE3B has an important role in the regulation of glucose and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) stimulated secretion of insulin in isolated β -cells and INS-1 cells [162, 163]. PDE3B seems to mediate the IGF-1 and leptin induced inhibition of GLP-1/cAMP stimulated insulin secretion [141, 164]. A study by Walz et al shows that PDE3B is localized at the insulin granule and can inhibit both first and second phase of insulin release [165]. PDE3B might also be important in hypothalamus where leptin stimulates satiety signals. A study by Zhou et al has shown that injection of PDE3 inhibitors into the brain completely blocks the satiety and weight-reducing effects of leptin in hypothalamus [166]. Although Zhao et al state that this is the effect of PDE3B inhibition since PDE3B is expressed in hypothalamus, the effect of PDE3A can not be ruled out as PDE3A might also be expressed in adult hypothalamus.

The important role for PDE3B in adipocytes, hepatocytes and β -cells has been confirmed in studies with whole animals injected with PDE3 inhibitors and in studies with PDE3B KO mice. Rats injected with different PDE3 inhibitors clearly showed elevated plasma insulin, elevated plasma FFA and slightly elevated glucose levels as compared to control animals [167-169]. These results support a role for PDE3B in the inhibition of GLP-1 and/or glucose stimulated insulin secretion from β -cells and in the antilipolytic actions of insulin in adipocytes. The slightly elevated glucose levels were shown to be the result of increased glucose production, which supports a role for PDE3B in the inhibition of glucose production from the hepatocytes. The in vivo studies with PDE3 inhibitors have been complemented with studies of subfamily specific PDE3B KO mice. Results from the PDE3B KO mice support an important role for PDE3B in different metabolic functions of the adipocytes, β-cells and hepatocytes [170]. The PDE3B KO animals had increased fasting FFA and glycerol levels together with blocked suppression of lipolysis by insulin compared to WT mice, showing an important role of PDE3B in the regulation of lipid metabolism. Insulin secretion was increased in the PDE3B KO mice

which could be measured both in the whole animal and in isolated β -cells, which shows the role for PDE3B in the regulation of insulin secretion from the β-cell. The PDE3B KO mice were insulin resistent with a slightly lower wholebody glucose uptake compared to WT mice. The main cause of the insulin resistence was a defect in the liver since the insulin-induced suppression of endogenous glucose production was markedly lower in the PDE3B KO mice compared to WT mice. The livers of the PDE3B KO mice had increased levels of phosphoenol-pyruvat carboxykinase (PEPCK), glucose-6-phosphatase and PPARy coactivator (PGC)-1a mRNA, which is consistent with enhanced glucose production. Interestingly the liver of the PDE3B KO mice also had increased TG levels and mRNAs of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α compared to WT mice. Unpublished results from the adipose tissue of the PDE3B KO show that an ablation of PDE3B causes increased energy dissipation and fatty acid oxidation. The lack of PDE3B appears to change the phenotype of the white adipose tissue so that it displays features of brown adipose tissue. In summary results from the PDE3B KO mice show that the expression of PDE3B is important for the adipose tissue phenotype and whole body metabolism.

As described in the adipose tissue section, dysregulated lipid metabolism can cause development of T2D. As PDE3B is important in the regulation of lipid metabolism, a possible involvement of the enzyme in diabetes has been explored. Patients with untreated T2D and T1D have been shown to have decreased PDE3B activity in the subcutaneous adipose tissue [171]. Interestingly if the diabetes was treated the reduction of PDE3 activity was normalized. Studies of PDE3B have also been performed in the KKAy mice and db/db mice which are models of obesity, insulin resistence and diabetes. The KKAy and db/db mice had decreased levels of PDE3B mRNA, protein and activity in the adipose tissue, but after treatment of diabetes with a PPAR γ ligand the PDE3B levels were normalized in the animals [172-174]. The animal and human studies indicate a possible role for PDE3B in the development of diabetes.

Regulation of PDE3B in adipocytes

Changes in adipose tissue PDE3B expression of diabetic patients and mice is interesting and the regulatory mechanism of PDE3B expression has been studied to some extent. The expression of PDE3B in 3T3-L1 adipocytes seems to be affected by long-term incubation of many different agents. For example PDE3B expression is down regulated in response to TNF- α , ceramides and isoproterenol and up regulated in response to insulin [175-177]. The possibility that TNF- α and/or catecholamines mediate down regulation of PDE3B during

diabetes development remains to be further elucidated. The PDE3B gene promotor region has one proximal and one distal cAMP responsive element (CRE) [178]. During 3T3-L1 adipocyte differentiation when PDE3B is markedly up regulated, the CRE regions interact with phosphorylated CRE-binding protein (CREB) which indicates a critical role for the CRE regions in the regulation of PDE3B expression [179].

Compared to long-term regulation of PDE3B expression acute hormonal activation of PDE3B has been more extensively studied and the knowledge goes back over 40 years at the time of the phosphodiesterase discovery. The activation of PDE3B has been shown to be the result of serine phosphorylation of the enzyme both in response to insulin and catecholamines [180]. When it comes to which sites are phosphorylated in response to insulin and isoproterenol and responsible for the activation, some discrepancy exists. In 1994 Rascon et al [181] was the first to identify a phosphorylation site on rat adipocyte PDE3B, namely serine (S) 427 (S421 in mouse) which was phosphorylated in vitro after addition of active PKA to the enzyme. In primary rat adipocytes it was then shown that S302 (S296 in mouse) was the major site phosphorylated in response to both insulin and isoproterenol [182]. In another study using site-directed mutagenesis the results showed that S273 was the only site important for PDE3B activation in response to insulin in 3T3-L1 adipocytes [183]. In addition, phosphorylation of S296 was shown to be the main site responsible for isoproterenol induced activation of PDE3B. As expected, it has also been shown that protein phosphatases (PP) and especially PP2A, are important for the regulation of PDE3B [184, 185]. In my studies one major focus has been to resolve the discrepancies regarding PDE3B phosphorylation sites. My results show that PDE3B is phosphorylated on multiple sites both in adipocytes and hepatocytes which partly can explain the discrepancies described here (see present investigations).

The regulatory process whereby phosphorylation of PDE3B occurs in response to insulin is PI3K dependent [186, 187]. Accumulating evidence suggests that PKB is the kinase responsible for insulin induced phosphorylation of PDE3B. Partially purified PKB from insulin stimulated primary rat adipocytes co-eluted with insulin stimulated PDE3B kinase activity during ion-exchange chromatography [187]. Two other studies supported the co-elution study by showing that recombinant PKB could phosphorylate PDE3B in vitro in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and FDCP2 cells [183, 188]. When it comes to the kinase responsible for catecholamine induced PDE3B phosphorylation one potential candidate is PKA, as it is activated by cAMP. A study by Zmuda-Trzebiatowska et al recently showed that the PKA inhibitor, H89, could block β_3 -AR agonist induced activation of PDE3B in adipocytes, indicating a role for

PKA in catecholamine stimulated PDE3B activation [149]. Interestingly, the same study shows that PKB is phosphorylated on Ser473/4 in response to both a β_3 -AR agonist and insulin in a PKA dependent manner. Together the results suggest that PKB is involved in catecholamine stimulated activation of PDE3B in adipocytes and that the activity of PKA is important for the activation of PKB in response to both β_3 -AR agonist and insulin, illustrated with a dotted line in figure 1.

Other aspects important for proper understanding of hormone regulation of PDE3B are PDE3B's localization in the cell and possible interaction partners. The localization is important especially when compartmentalization aspects come into the picture, as discussed before. The first studies of PDE3B showed that the enzyme mainly was associated with membrane structures of adipocytes [133, 134]. Several years later this knowledge was expanded as it was shown that the N-terminal hydrophobic parts, NHR1 and NHR2, are essential for this association to the membranes and for PDE3B to migrate into high molecular weight structures during gelfiltration [134, 189]. In 2000 it was shown by Shakur et al that PDE3B is localized to the ER in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and that this localization is dependent on the N-terminal hydrophobic parts, NHR1 and NHR2 [139]. My studies have further gained insight into the localization of PDE3B and the regulation of PDE3B at different locations. Gelfiltration results showing that PDE3B appears in a high molecular weight complex indicate that PDE3B interacts with other proteins. Recent studies have identified several PDE3B interaction partners e.g. the insulin receptor in human adipocytes [190], 14-3-3 in rat adipocytes [191], a 50 kDa protein in rat adipocytes [192], a 47 kDa PKB (Akt) substrate (AS47) in 3T3-L1 adipocytes [193] and PI3Ky in mouse heart [194]. Interestingly the 14-3-3 interaction is dependent on PI3K activation and phosphorylation of PDE3B on S273 or S296. The 50 kDa protein and AS47 are probably the same protein and the studies show that the protein is phosphorylated in response to insulin and that the amount of AS47 protein regulates the quantity of PDE3B expressed. The studies I have performed have led to new insights into protein interactions of PDE3B in adipocytes and the connection of PDE3B interactions to its localization.

To summarize, a lot is known and has been studied about the regulation of PDE3B in adipocytes but still there are things we cannot grasp. The more we understand of the PDE3B regulation the more complex is the evolving picture, with the addition of one dimension after another.

PRESENT INVESTIGATION

Aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to contribute knowledge regarding regulation of lipid metabolism. Important regulatory pathways of lipid metabolism in adipocytes are insulin and catecholamine mediated stimulation of phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE3B). Thus, the focus of this thesis has been on the acute activation of PDE3B in response to insulin and catecholamines in adipocytes. The activation of an enzyme like PDE3B can be studied with different perspectives, but based on the knowledge at the start of this work, the specific aims of this thesis were the following.

- Identify sites phosphorylated in response to insulin and catecholamines in PDE3B of primary adipocytes. (Paper I)
- Clarify PDE3B's localization in adipocytes and characterize the role of PDE3B's localization for its activation by insulin and catecholamines. (Paper II and IV)
- Identify PDE3B interacting proteins in insulin and catecholamine stimulated adipocytes. (Paper III and IV)

Experimental outline

The methodologies used to reach the specific aims are described thoroughly in the papers. Here is a brief overview of the experimental outline also summarized in figure 7. The cells used in the experimental set-up were either 3T3-L1 adipocytes or primary mouse or rat adipocytes. 3T3-L1 adipocytes were differentiated from cultured 3T3-L1 fibroblasts (American Type Culture collection. Manassas, USA) by adding IBMX (a non-specific phosphodiesterase inhibitor), dexamethesone (synthetic steroid hormone) and insulin for 8-16 days. Primary adipocytes were isolated from epididymal adipose tissue of male Sprague-Dawley rats, human adipose tissue or from caveolin-1 KO mice by collagenase digestion. The isolated primary adipocytes were used immediately after preparation and the differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes were used immediately after differentiation. In certain experimental set-ups the adipocytes were pre-treated with different agents before hormone stimulation (figure 7A). The adipocytes were pre-treated with atorvastatin or methyl-β-cyclodextrin to lower the cholesterol content in the cell and plasma membrane or caveolin-1 siRNA to knock down the caveolin-1 expression. In some studies the adipocytes were infected with adenoviruses to express WT and mutated forms of PDE3B and PKB. In other experiments the adipocytes were labelled with ³²P or incubated with different inhibitors before hormone stimulation. After pre-treatment, the adipocytes were stimulated with insulin and/or catecholamines like isoproterenol (β-AR agonist) or CL-316243 (β₃-AR agonist) for 10-20 min (figure 7B). The stimulated adipocytes were in most cases homogenized and the homogenates were subjected to different separation strategies like subcellular fractionation to study the subcellular locations of PDE3B, gelfiltration to study PDE3B complex formation, caveolae enrichment to investigate PDE3B's localization, two dimensional (2D) phosphopeptide mapping to separate PDE3B phosphopeptides and immunoprecipitation to purify PDE3B and PDE3B interacting proteins (figure 7C). The different fractions or whole cells were finally analyzed using a wide variety of techniques and approaches (figure 7D). The fractions were analyzed by PDE3 activity measurements, immuno-blotting to detect different proteins, phospho-imaging cholesterol/protein measurements and to look at phosphorylated PDE3B and PDE3B peptides. Purified phosphopeptides were analyzed by mass-spectrometry to identify the phosphorylated PDE3B peptides. Whole cells or plasma membranes of whole cells were analyzed with confocal microscopy and electron microscopy to look at the subcellular localization of PDE3B and co-localization of PDE3B with PKB or caveolin-1. Whole cells were in certain set-ups also analyzed for glycerol release to draw conclusions on the rates of lipolysis. The results were summarized and the significance of each experiment was evaluated.



Figure 7: Experimental overview

Primary rat/mouse adipocytes or 3T3-L1 adipocytes were pre-treated with different substances (A) and then stimulated with insulin or catecholamines (B). The stimulated cells were in most experiments homogenized and the homogenates were subjected to different fractionation techniques (C). The fractions or whole cells were finally analyzed using a wide variety of approaches (D). siRNA; small interference RNA, IP; immunoprecipitation, 2D; two dimensional.
PDE3B phosphorylation in adipocytes (Paper I)

Background

Previous studies had shown that the activation of PDE3B in response to insulin and catecholamines were important for the regulation of adipocyte lipolysis [131, 132, 145, 153, 154] (figure 1). Insulin activated PDE3B antagonized catecholamine induced lipolysis, while catecholamine activated PDE3B was thought to primarily be a negative feedback mechanism of increased cAMP levels. It had also been shown that activation of PDE3B was the result of serine phosphorylation of the enzyme in adipocytes [180]. Regarding the identity of the serines phosphorylated in adipocyte PDE3B in response to insulin and catecholamines few studies had been published. A study by Rahn et al had identified S302 (corresponding to S296 in mouse) as the major site phosphorylated in adipocytes in response to both insulin and isoproterenol by 2D tryptic phosphopeptide (tPP) mapping of endogenous PDE3B from primary rat adipocytes [182]. Another study by Kitamura et al had used site-directed mutagenesis of PDE3B in 3T3-L1 mouse adipocytes. In this study S273 was shown to be important for insulin-mediated phosphorylation and activation of PDE3B whereas S296 was demonstrated to be important for isoproterenol but not insulin-mediated phosphorylation and activation of the enzyme [183]. The knowledge regarding sites phosphorylated in PDE3B in response to insulin and isoproterenol were therefore partly contradictory at the time. In addition to the tPP containing S302, other tPPs had been weakly detected on the 2D phosphopeptide maps of endogenous adipocyte PDE3B in the study by Rahn et al [182]. Several endogenous PDE3B tPP had also been seen on 2D phosphopeptides maps after PP1 and PP2A inhibition in adipocytes by okadaic acid and calvculin A [185]. Both of these studies indicated that PDE3B in adipocyte was phosphorylated at several different sites, although most of the tPPs were not possible to identify due to the limited amount of phosphorylated PDE3B. Based on these partly contradictory results and incomplete information we wanted to clarify which sites are phosphorylated in response to insulin and isoproterenol, and elucidate if PDE3B is multisite phosphorylated in adipocytes. Therefore the specific aim of this study was to identify the sites phosphorylated in response to insulin and catecholamines in PDE3B of primary adipocytes.

Results and discussion

To identify the sites phosphorylated in PDE3B it was important to generate sufficient amount of material for PDE3B site analysis, as this was one of the

previous limitations of identification. Thus, we used an adenoviral system to overexpress PDE3B in primary rat adipocytes. The adenovirus used expressed flag-tagged mouse PDE3B (flagPDE3B) and generated a 10-25 fold PDE3B overexpression after 6-14 h of adenoviral infection of primary rat adipocytes (paper I, figure 1). The overexpressed flagPDE3B was carefully characterized with regard to localization, regulation and function. As seen in figure 1C of paper I, the overexpressed flagPDE3B was localized to the same subcellular compartment as endogenous PDE3B i.e. in the plasma membrane and ER/Golgi fraction. The overexpressed PDE3B was also activated in response to various stimuli in the same manner as the endogenous PDE3B and mediated regulation of lipolysis (paper I, figure 2A and 4). From the described results it was concluded that the adenoviral generated overexpression of flagPDE3B in primary rat adipocytes is a useful and relevant model for studying PDE3B. We then started our search for PDE3B phosphorylation sites by generating 2D tryptic phosphopeptide maps of flagPDE3B phosphorylated in response to different stimuli. Primary rat adipocytes expressing flagPDE3B were labelled with ³²P and treated with insulin, isoproterenol or calyculin A. FlagPDE3B was immunoisolated and trypsin digested. The PDE3B tPPs were then separated on 2D tryptic phosphopeptide maps. Several tPPs denoted tPP1-13 were generated from the adipocyte PDE3B (Paper I, figure 5A-E) in response to the different agents. The results clearly showed that PDE3B is phosphorylated at multiple sites. Interestingly the PDE3B phosphopeptide maps generated from insulin and isoproterenol stimulated adipocytes were very similar. Of the 9 PDE3B tPP seen on the 2D phosphopeptide maps after insulin and isoproterenol stimulation, 8 were seen after both stimuli while one tPP was seen only after isoproterenol stimulation. The large similarities indicate that the signaling pathways of insulin and isoproterenol might converge upstream of PDE3B, maybe at the level of PKB. The separated and enriched PDE3B tPPs were also identified using mass-spectrometry (HPLC-MS/MS). We were able to identify six out of the 13 tPPs which were phosphorylated on serine(S) 273, S296, S421, S424/5 (peptide phosphorylated on S421 and either S424 or S425), S474 and S536 (Paper I, table 1). As shown in figure 5A-E of paper I, S273, S296 and S421 were phosphorylated in response to stimulation of rat adipocytes with insulin as well as isoproterenol whereas S424/5, S474 and S536 were phosphorylated mainly in response to calyculin A. Although the 2D phosphopeptide maps of PDE3B were similar after insulin and isoproterenol stimulation, there was one exception, namely tPP7 (figure 5B-C). Unfortunately we were not able to identify tPP7, but the difference indicates that there are also distinct regulatory mechanisms for insulin and isoproterenol at the level of PDE3B.

The results clearly show that PDE3B is multisite phosphorylated and S273, S296 and S421 are phosphorylated in response to insulin as well as isoproterenol in primary adipocytes. These results are in agreement with the study by Rahn et al [182], which shows phosphorylation of S302 in rat PDE3B (corresponding to S296 in mouse) in response to both insulin and isoproterenol in primary adipocytes. The results are not in perfect agreement with the study by Kitamura et al [183], but the differences can perhaps be explained by the different cell types and techniques used in the studies. Paper I is the first report on phosphorylation of the 135 kDa PDE3B in hepatocytes and evidence for the relevance of the identified PDE3B phosphorylation sites in primary adipocytes are the very similar results obtained from experiments in hepatocytes. In paper I figure 5G-J we show that the phosphorylation pattern of PDE3B generated from insulin and forskolin (cAMP increasing agent) stimulated hepatocytes were very similar, supporting that the same sites are phosphorylated in response to both insulin and forskolin. We also identified S273, S296 and S421 to be phosphorylated in hepatocytes stimulated with insulin and several other sites in response to calyculin A as seen in paper I, table 2. The results from the hepatocytes support that PDE3B is multisite phosphorylated, that insulin and cAMP increasing agents generate similar PDE3B phosphorylation patterns and that insulin stimulates the phosphorylation of S273, S296 and S421 on PDE3B.

The identification of a number of PDE3B phosphorylation sites S273, S296, S421, S424/5, S474, S536 and the demonstration of additional non-identified PDE3B tPPs show that the enzyme for sure is subjected to multisite phosphorylation in adipocytes. Multisite phosphorylation of PDE3B suggests that PDE3B is regulated by complex mechanisms. The different phosphorylation sites can have a wide variety of functions for example control of catalytic activity, docking with other proteins, subcellular localization, and protein degradation [195]. Regarding catalytic activity it is known that PDE3B is activated in response to phosphorylation and Kitamura et al [183] have shown that S273 and S296 are important for the activation of PDE3B, but if there are additional activating sites or any phosphorylation site that inhibits the activation is not known. When it comes to docking with other proteins it has been shown that PDE3B phosphorylation on S296 and S273 induce interaction with 14-3-3 [191]. Interestingly we have also shown in paper III that phosphorylated PDE3B interacts with other proteins in a multiprotein complex, these results are further discussed in the section PDE3B interacting proteins in adipocytes. Regarding subcellular localization, phosphorylation of PDE3B does not seem to change the subcellular localization of the enzyme as seen in paper IV, figure 2. The exact role for each of the different phosphorylations is not known, but it seems like phosphorylation of S273 and S296 in PDE3B can have direct effects on enzymatic activity by inducing conformational changes.



Figure 8: PDE3B phosphorylation in adipocytes

Identified PDE3B phosphorylation sites in response to different stimuli, possible kinases involved in the phosphorylation of the different sites in PDE3B based on search in Scansite 2.0 and possible effects of the phosphorylations. PKA; protein kinase A, PKB; protein kinase B, S; Serine, P-sites; phosphorylation sites, P; phosphor.

The phosphorylations can likely also have indirect effects through the induction of interactions. The interactions with other proteins could lead to additional phosphorylations or closeness to its substrate cAMP (figure 8).

The kinase/es responsible for the phosphorylation of the different PDE3B phosphorylation sites is/are not known. It could be that one kinase is responsible for the phosphorylation of several amino acids in PDE3B or that each phosphorylation site has one responsible kinase. In a search for possible PKA and PKB phosphorylation sites within PDE3B using Scansite 2.0 [196] several sites occurred with medium stringency. The search found four PKB phosphorylation sites with similar scores; S273, S296, S378 and S474, and four PKA sites; S273, S274, S296 and S421. Interestingly three of the predicted PKB sites (S273, S296 and S474) and three of the predicted PKA sites (S273, S296 and S421) were identified in this study, which indicates a possibility for these kinases to be involved in several of the phosphorylations. Another interesting aspect is that S273 and S296 are both potential targets for PKB as well as PKA catalyzed phosphorylations and both sites are phosphorylated in response to insulin and isoproterenol, which indicate an intricate regulatory system. One hypothesis on the matter is that insulin and β -adrenergic signaling pathways converge upstream of PDE3B at the level of PKB. It has been shown that PKB is a PDE3B kinase [183, 187, 188] and it is known to be

phosphorylated/activated both by insulin, β -AR agonists and phosphatase inhibitors in adipocytes [149, 197]. Another hypothesis is that isoproterenol mediates its effect on PDE3B via PKA and insulin mediates its effects via PKB and both kinases will phosphorylate PDE3B on S273 and S296. A role for PKA is supported by a previous study showing that PKA phosphorylates rat adipocyte PDE3B on S427 (corresponding to S421 in mouse) in vitro [181] and S421 is in this work identified to be phosphorylated by all stimuli. The sites identified in paper I, table 1 and possible kinases responsible for the phosphorylation of PDE3B and effects of the phosphorylations are summarized in figure 8.

PDE3B localization in adipocytes (Paper II and IV)

Background

The first studies on the localization of PDE3B in adipocytes had shown that the enzyme mainly was associated with membrane structures of adipocytes [133]. Studies from primary adipocytes had specified this localization to be primarily in the ER membrane fraction, but also to some extent in the PM fraction [198]. In another study with 3T3-L1 adipocytes the membrane association of PDE3B had been specified to the ER without any PM localization and the N-terminal hydrophobic parts, NHR1 and NHR2 of PDE3B were shown to be essential for the ER localization [19]. Based on these partly contradictory results we wanted to further clarify the localization of PDE3B in adipocytes by using primary adipocytes and several different subcellular fractionation methods. In addition we wanted to characterize the role of PDE3B's localization for its activation by insulin and catecholamines since not much was known in this regard.

Results and discussion

Primarily the localization of PDE3B was studied using two different species of primary adipocytes and two different methods for subcellular fractionation. Mouse primary adipocyte membranes were subjected to continuous sucrose gradient (10-45 %) centrifugation to separate different subcellular fractions, while rat adipocytes were subjected to discontinuous sucrose gradient in combination with sequential centrifugations. As seen in paper II, figure 1, PDE3B was found primarily in the PM and ER. The PM and ER PDE3B were isolated and further investigated with gelfiltration. The results showed that PM PDE3B and not ER PDE3B eluted as large molecular assemblies (>4 000kDa) as seen in paper II, figure 2a and 3b. The PM gelfiltration fraction containing

large molecular assemblies also contained high amounts of the lipid raft markers cholesterol and flotillin-1 and the caveolae marker caveolin-1 (paper II, figure 3). Based on the gelfiltration results, PM PDE3B was further investigated regarding its possible association to caveolae. Caveolae are highly abundant structures in the adipocyte PM and are enriched with the protein caveolin-1. Caveolae have also been shown to be a platform for G-protein coupled [68] and insulin signaling [69] and were therefore highly relevant for the localization of PDE3B. Primary adipocytes were therefore subjected to different caveolae enrichment techniques which were based on the fact that caveolae are resistant to certain detergents, have high buoyant density after Na₂CO₃ extraction and contain caveolin-1. In adipocyte PM, PDE3B together with caveolin-1 were resistant to solubilization with 1% Triton X-100 and 2% CHAPS (paper II, figure 2b). During sucrose gradient fractionation of



Figure 9: Electron micrograph of PDE3B in hepatocytes

Mouse livers were flushed *in situ* with PBS followed by paraformaldehyde solution. Small pieces were cut out and embedded in Lowicryl. Sections were prepared and incubated with PDE3B antibodies and secondary rabbit antibody attached to gold particles (\mathbf{A} , \mathbf{C}) or only the secondary with gold (\mathbf{B} , \mathbf{D}). The lower picture is an enhancement of the marked area. Different organelles of the cells are marked and arrows show examples of gold particles (n=4). M; Mitochondria, N; Nucleus and sER; smooth ER.

adipocyte Na₂CO₃ extracted PM, PDE3B co-migrated with caveolin-1, cholesterol and flotillin-1 (paper II, figure 4) and in detergent resistant PM PDE3B co-immunoprecipitated with caveolin-1 (paper II, figure 5). The results from the different caveolae enrichment techniques showed that PDE3B was present in fractions enriched in caveolae, which indicate that PDE3B is associated with caveolae. To directly demonstrate the localization of PDE3B to caveolae, immuno-gold labelling and electron microscopy of plasma membrane sheets from primary human adipocytes were performed. Around 90 % of the immuno-gold labelled PDE3B was associated with caveolae, which showed that most PM PDE3B was localized to caveolae (paper IV, figure 3). Together the results clearly demonstrate that adipocyte PDE3B is localized to ER and caveolae. The exact proportion of adipocyte PDE3B in caveolae and ER varies depending on the adipocyte origin and technique used for subcellular fractionation, but in our studies around 35-50 % of total PDE3B was in the PM/caveolae fraction and the rest in the ER compartment. Regarding the ER localized PDE3B, we performed electron microscopy of mouse livers and found the main part of the immuno-gold labelled PDE3B in the smooth ER, as seen in figure 9. The localization to smooth ER is interesting as smooth ER is an important compartment for metabolic regulation [161]. The role of caveolae for PDE3B activity and expression in the PM was studied using primary rat adipocytes treated with methyl-β-cyclodextrin and adipocytes from the caveolin-1 KO mice, which lack caveolae [78]. The lack of caveolae resulted in reduced expression and activity of PDE3B (paper II, figure 6) which proves an important role for caveolae/caveolin-1 in the expression of PDE3B. The localization of PDE3B to caveolae is interesting since caveolae have become more and more established as an important platform to initiate, organize and generate specificity to intracellular signaling. For example, signaling components mediating effects of insulin and β-AR agonists have been localized to these structures [68]. As PDE3B is phosphorylated and activated by insulin as well as β -AR agonists we wanted to further investigate if PDE3B was activated by both stimuli in the caveolae and ER compartment or if there was any difference between the activation of PDE3B in the different compartments.

To characterize the role of PDE3B's localization for its activation by insulin and a β_3 -AR agonist in adipocytes, we performed experiments on 3T3-L1 adipocytes. The 3T3-L1 adipocytes were labelled with ³²P and stimulated with insulin or CL-316243. The labelled and stimulated adipocytes were subjected to subcellular fractionation and analyzed regarding PDE3 activity, PDE3B phosphorylation and PDE3B expression. Interestingly as seen in paper IV, figure 2 PDE3B localized in ER was phosphorylated and activated only in



Figure 10: Hypothesis for activation of PDE3B at different locations

PDE3B is located in the caveolae and ER in adipocytes. Insulin activates PDE3B localized in the ER via translocation of PKB to ER and CL activates the caveolae pool of PDE3B via translocation of PKA to caveolae. PM; plasma membrane, ER; endoplasmic reticulum, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, PKA; protein kinase A, PKB; protein kinase B, AR; adrenergic receptor, G_s; stimulatory G-protein, IR; insulin receptor, P; phosphor.

response to insulin while PDE3B in caveolae was phosphorylated and activated only in response to CL-316243. As seen in the same figure there was no acute translocation of PDE3B between the different locations. From these results it seems likely that caveolae localized PDE3B is specifically activated by catecholamines and that PDE3B in the ER is specifically activated by insulin. To further investigate if PDE3B was differentially regulated in ER and caveolae we used adipocytes from the caveolin-1 KO mice and developed small interference RNA (siRNA) to knock down the expression of caveolin-1 in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. The adipocytes were stimulated with insulin or CL-316243, and analysed with regard to lipolysis, PDE3 activity and phosphorylation of different proteins. In the caveolin-1 KO mouse adipocytes and the caveolin-1 siRNA treated 3T3-L1 adipocytes, activation of PDE3B in response to CL-316243 was lost, while the response to insulin was partly intact (paper IV, figure 9 and 10). These results further demonstrate that caveolae PDE3B is specifically activated by CL-316243. The lack of caveolin-1 also reduced the CL-316243 induced lipolysis and phosphorylation of CRE binding

transcription factors, HSL and perilipin while the phosphorylation of PKB in response to insulin was intact (paper IV, figure 8). These results show that not only PDE3B is dependant on caveolae localization for CL-316243 activation, but the whole machinery for regulating lipolysis is dependant on caveolae and caveolin-1. The fact that caveolae PDE3B is specifically activated by a β_3 -AR agonist and ER PDE3B specifically activated by insulin, is very interesting. The effects downstream of PDE3B are especially interesting since the intracellular concentrations of cAMP are tightly regulated. The activation of PDE3B in different compartments like caveolae and ER by different stimuli can perhaps help to create spatially compartmentalized cAMP and thereby modulate the specificity of the cAMP signals.

To further characterize the activation of PDE3B at the different locations, the localization of two possible PDE3B kinases, PKA and PKB, were studied in 3T3-L1 adipocytes after stimulation. In paper IV, the results in figure 1 show that CL-316243 stimulates translocation of the regulatory domain (R) of PKA to the PM, and insulin stimulates translocation of phosphorylated PKB to both the ER and PM. Insulin did not stimulate any PKA-R translocation and CL-316243 did not stimulate any PKB translocation. The localization of PKB and PDE3B was also studied after insulin stimulation by confocal microscopy as seen in paper III, figure 7A-G. The images show that PKB and phospho-PKB is translocated to the ER and PM after insulin stimulation, while the colocalization of PKB and phospho-PKB with PDE3B was estimated to be greater in the ER region than in the PM region. From the described results it is possible to put forth the following hypothesis; insulin activates PDE3B localized in the ER via translocation of PKB to ER and CL-316243 activates the caveolae pool of PDE3B via translocation of PKA to caveolae. If PKB translocate directly to the ER or if PKB is activated at the PM and then translocated to the ER is not known. The hypothesis is illustrated in figure 10.

PDE3B interacting proteins in adipocytes (Paper III and IV)

Background

It had been shown that solubilized endogenous PDE3B from primary rat adipocytes [134, 199, 200] and recombinant PDE3B [189, 199] elute at or close to the void volume (V_o) during gelfiltration on sephacryl S300 and TSG-3000SW columns. These gelfiltration experiments indicated that PDE3B was present as multimers or macromolecular complexes with other proteins. The study by Kenan et al had also shown that NHR1 and NHR2 regions of PDE3B

are essential for the appearance of PDE3B in the macromolecular complexes [189]. It had also, in analogy with the described results, been shown that PDE3B interacts with several proteins. PDE3B had been shown to interact with the IR [190] and 14-3-3 proteins [191] in a hormone dependent manner in adipocytes and in a hormone insensitive manner with PI3K γ in mouse heart [110] and a 47 kDa protein of unknown function in 3T3-L1 adipocytes [192, 193]. The interactions of PDE3B with proteins both in a hormone sensitive and hormone insensitive manner are probably very important for the regulation of PDE3B and for effects downstream of PDE3B. Thus, we wanted to investigate the constituents of the PDE3B complexes and identify PDE3B interacting proteins in insulin and catecholamine stimulated adipocytes.

Results and discussion

Primarily we wanted to characterize possible PDE3B containing macromolecular complexes in the internal membranes (i.e not in the PM) of insulin-treated 3T3-L1 adipocytes. 3T3-L adipocytes were therefore stimulated with insulin and internal membranes were isolated, solubilized and fractionated by gelfiltration. As seen in figure paper III, figure 2, PDE3B exhibited a molecular mass of around 1 000 kDa without stimulation, which is larger than its own size (135 kDa) and indicates interactions with other molecules. After incubation of adipocytes with insulin the apparent molecular weight of around 50% of PDE3B protein and activity increased and eluted at the V_{0} , >3 000kDa (paper III, figure 2). Furthermore, all of the phosphorylated PDE3B from insulin treated adipocytes eluted at >3 000 kD, indicating that activated PDE3B is present in a macromolecular complex after insulin stimulation (paper III, figure 2). Insulin-treatment similarly altered the elution patterns of several other signaling molecules, including IRS-1, PI3K p85, PKB, 14-3-3, heat shock protein (HSP) 90 and PP2A, indicated the presence also of these molecules in macromolecular complex/es after insulin stimulation (paper III, figure 3). The presence of PDE3B, IRS-1, PI3K p85, PKB, 14-3-3 and HSP-90 in macromolecular complex/es was prevented by prior treatment of adipocytes with wortmannin, a PI3K inhibitor (paper III, figure 2B and 3). There results show that the insulin-induced formation of macromolecular complex/es with PDE3B, IRS-1, PI3K p85, PKB, 14-3-3 and HSP90 are PI3K dependent. To study if PDE3B actually interacted with the molecules in the complex a coimmunoprecipitation strategy was used. Samples of gelfiltration fractions from control or insulin-treated 3T3-L1 adipocytes were immunoprecipitated with antibodies against PDE3B. The results showed that IRS-1, PI3K p85, PKB, 14-3-3, HSP90 and PP2A co-immunoprecipitated with PDE3B from the high molecular weight (>3 000 kD) fractions of the insulin-treated adipocytes (paper III, figure 4). These results suggest that, in insulin-treated adipocytes, PDE3B

in the internal membranes is part of a macromolecular complexes comprising IRS-1, PI3K, PKB, HSP90, 14-3-3, PP2A, and perhaps additional unidentified proteins. PDE3B in the macromolecular complex was further studied and we could show that N-terminal truncated PDE3B without NHR1 and NHR2 (the first 604 amino acids deleted) were not recruited to the complex in response to insulin, which shows that the N-terminal part is essential for PDE3B's recruitment to a macromolecular complex (paper III, figure 5B). The truncated form of PDE3B, siRNA down regulation of PDE3B (paper III, figure 5) or inhibition of PDE3B activity by cilostamide (paper IV, figure 6) did not prevent insulin-induced recruitment of signaling molecules into the >3 000 kDa macromolecular complex, which shows that PDE3B is not necessary for insulin-induced complex formation and is not the central scaffold molecule. Taken together, these results suggest that insulin stimulates the recruitment of PDE3B into large macromolecular complexes together with PKB, IRS-1, PI3K, HSP90, 14-3-3, PP2A and perhaps other signaling molecules, in 3T3-L1 adipocyte membranes.

After identification of insulin-induced formation of macromolecular complexes involved in the activation of PDE3B we wanted to further investigate if a β_3 -AR agonist such as CL-316243 induces a similar large macromolecular complex in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. To characterize possible macromolecular complexes induced by CL-316243 and compare it to complexes formed by insulin, total membranes with both PM and internal membranes form insulin and CL-316243 stimulated 3T3-L1 adipocytes were solubilized and fractionated by gelfiltration (paper IV, figure 4). After incubation of adipocytes with insulin or CL-316243, PDE3 activity increased, and 50 % of total PDE3B eluted at >3 000 kDa instead of at 1 000 kDa as is the case in control condition. Furthermore, all of the phosphorylated PDE3B from CL-316243 treated adipocytes eluted at >3 000 kDa (paper IV, figure 4B). The results show that CL-316243 like insulin induces the formation of macromolecular complexes containing PDE3B. As seen in paper IV, figure 4A, CL-316243-treatment specifically altered the migration pattern of β_3 -AR, HSL and PKA-R into macromolecular complexes of >3000 kDa. The migration of other proteins, including 14-3-3, PP2A, perilipin, AC and caveolin-1, were altered in the same way in response to both CL-316243 and insulin. The migration pattern of IRS1, PI3K p85, PKB and HSP90 into macromolecular complexes were specifically stimulated by insulin. To study if PDE3B actually interacted with the molecules in the CL-316243 induced complex and compare the CL-316243induced complex to to the insulin-induced complex, a co-immunoprecipitation strategy was used. Samples of gelfiltration fractions from both insulin and CL-316243 stimulated adjpocytes were immunoprecipitated with an anti-PDE3B antibody and then analysed. Several signaling proteins co-immunoprecipitated

with PDE3B in the high molecular weight (>3 000 kD) fractions from insulin and CL-316243 stimulated 3T3-L1 adjpocytes (paper IV, figure 5). The results suggested that PDE3B in the CL-316243 stimulated adipocytes interacts with PKA-R, β₃-AR, 14-3-3, PP2A, AKAP and caveolin-1 in a macromolecular complex. PDE3B in insulin stimulated adipocytes interacted with a slightly different set of proteins in the macromolecular complex as compred to CL-316243 such as IRS-1, PI3K P85, PKB, HSP90 14-3-3, AKAP, PP2A, and caveolin-1. The presence of caveolin-1 and 14-3-3 both in the insulin and CL-316243 stimulated macromolecular complexes indicate that these molecules are the main scaffolding proteins in the formed complexes with PDE3B. As the molecular weight of the identified components in the macromolecular complexes does not add up anywhere close to 3 000 kDa it could be that 14-3-3 and caveolin-1 proteins act as scaffolds to attract several protein copies of the identified proteins to the same complex. The 14-3-3 proteins have been shown to directly interact with phosphorylated PDE3B in adipocytes, it is thereby likely that 14-3-3 interacts closely with the phosphorylated PDE3B in the complexes after both insulin and CL-316243 stimulation [191]. Caveolin-1 is probably also an important scaffold protein since knock down of caveolin-1 more or less blocks the formation of complexes in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (paper IV, figure 10). In support of this hypothesis, caveolin-1 has been shown to directly interact with PKA [80] and this interaction seems to be important for the β_3 -AR agonist stimulated complex formation between perilipin, caveolin-1 and the catalytic subunit of PKA in adipocytes [79]. Another explanation to the large size of the formed complex is that the complex contains several other so far not identified components. A third explanation to the large size is that it is located in a raft structure which could be part of the complex and possibly also keep the complex together. An illustration of the described results can be seen in figure 11.

As seen in paper IV, figure 4A, upper panel, the macromolecular complexes induced by CL-316243 and insulin coincided with elution of increased amounts of cholesterol with the large complexes and activated PDE3B. This result indicates that cholesterol is a part of the formed complex maybe as part of a lipid raft structure. To further study the role of cholesterol 3T3-L1 adipocytes were treated with atorvastatin prior to stimulation and gelfiltration. Atorvastatin is a HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor that reduces the formation of mevalonic acid, a precursor in the biosynthesis of cholesterol and isoprenoids, which are necessary for prenylation and subsequent membrane anchoring and activity of signaling effectors. The treatment was associated with reduced recruitment of PDE3B into macromolecular complexes in response to both insulin and CL-316243 and destabilization of these complexes (paper IV, figure 13). The described results suggest that cholesterol and / or membrane anchoring of



Figure 11: PDE3B in macromolecular complexes

PDE3B is a component of macromolecular signaling complexes formed after insulin and catecholamine stimulation in adipocytes. IRS; insulin receptor substrate, PI3K; phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, PKB; protein kinase B, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, AR; adrenergic receptor, AC; adenylyl cyclase, PKA; protein kinase A, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, HSL; hormone sensitive lipase, AKAP; A-kinase anchoring proteins, PP; protein phosphatase, peri; perilipin, ; ; cholesterol.

important signaling proteins are essential for the insulin and CL-316243 induced formation of macromolecular complexes with PDE3B in adipocytes. Two indirect effects of cholesterol reduction are reduced caveolin-1 expression in the PM [53] and changes in the membrane composition such as reduced caveolae or lipid raft formations. These effects could perhaps explain the reduced formation of macromolecular complexes in response to atorvastatin.

The studies on PDE3B complex formation in this thesis illustrate that PDE3B and PKB interact in internal membranes after insulin stimulation of 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Interestingly PKB has been implicated in insulin-induced phosphorylation and activation of PDE3B [183, 187, 188] and therefore we wanted to further characterize the interactions between membrane-associated PDE3B and PKB. After incubation of 3T3-L1 adipocytes with insulin, PDE3B and PKB co-immunoprecipitated from solubilized membranes with antibodies against PDE3B in a PI3K dependant manner (paper III, figure 6). To identify structural determinants involved in the interaction between PDE3B and PKB, we tested the ability of wild type and truncated mutant PDE3B recombinants to co-immunoprecipitate with PKB. As shown in paper III figure 8, truncated recombinant PDE3B in which the first 1-302 (M3BA302) or 1-604 amino acids $(M3B\Delta 604)$ were deleted did not co-immunoprecipitate with pPKB, while recombinant PDE3B in which the first 1-196 amino acids were deleated $(M3B\Delta 196)$ co-immunoprecipitated with pPKB, but less efficiently than WT MPDE3B. The results suggest that the regulatory domain (1-302aa) of PDE3B may be critically important for its interaction with pPKB. We also incubated

FLAG-tagged, recombinant MPDE3B with recombinant PKB, pPKB and p- Δ PKB (PH domain deleted, active PKB) and immunoprecipitated the recombinant PDE3B and PKB. As seen in paper III figure 9 more pPKB than PKB co-immunoprecipitated MPDE3B and PDE3B co-immunoprecipitated only with pPKB and not PKB or p- Δ PKB. The results indicated that activated pPKB interacts with PDE3B via its PH domain. This was also supported from results showing that pPKB, not PKB or p- Δ PKB co-eluted with MPDE3B after gel filtration purification (paper III, figure 10). Together the results suggest that phosphorylated PKB directly interacts with PDE3B through PDE3B's regulatory domain and PKB's PH-domain, which might be important for the activation of PDE3B in response to insulin.

Concluding remarks

From the results presented in this thesis regarding the regulation of PDE3B there are obvious connections between the studies of PDE3B phosphorylation, localization and protein interactions in adipocytes. To start with some general conclusions from the PDE3B localization and interaction studies; PDE3B is localized in two different compartments, i.e. caveolae and ER. Insulin specifically activates PDE3B in the ER compartment and insulin also generates macromolecular complexes containing PDE3B and several insulin signaling molecules. The studies on complex formation in response to insulin were preformed on adipocyte fractions containing internal membranes (i.e. without any PM), which strongly suggests that the insulin stimulated PDE3B containing macromolecular complexes are localized to ER where insulininduced activation of PDE3B takes place. A β_3 -AR agonist on the other hand stimulates caveolae localized PDE3B and generates macromolecular complexes containing PDE3B and several cAMP related signaling molecules. The studies on complex formation in response to a β_3 -AR agonist were performed on adjpocyte total membrane fractions containing both internal membranes and PM. The β_3 -AR agonist stimulated PDE3B macromolecular complexes may therefore in theory be located in ER, but is more likely located in caveolae since virtually all of the β_3 -AR agonist-induced PDE3B activation and phosphorylation is located in the caveolae. Furthermore, PKA-R which is specifically a part of the β_3 -AR agonist stimulated PDE3B macromolecular complex translocates only to the PM compartment and not to ER. In figure 12 a hypothesis is presented which summarize all these conclusions. β_3 -AR agonist stimulation of PDE3B is clearly dependant on caveolae and caveolin-1 in adipocytes. Thus caveolae seem to be a signaling platform for the cAMP related signaling. If caveolae are central signalling platforms for insulin



Figure 12: Summarized hypothesis of PDE3B's regulation in adipocytes

PM; plasma membrane, ER; endoplasmic reticulum, IRS; insulin receptor substrate, PI3K; phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, PKB; protein kinase B, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, AR; adrenergic receptor, G_s ; stimulatory G-protein, AC; adenylyl cyclase, PKA; protein kinase A, PDE; cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, HSL; hormone sensitive lipase, AKAP; A-kinase anchoring proteins, PP; protein phosphatase, K; cholesterol, K; caveolin-1, per; perilipin,.

stimulation of PDE3B in adipocytes remains to be further elucidated. Insulin stimulation of PDE3B activity and complex formation in the ER implys that caveolae might not be the central platform. The insulin induced activation of PDE3B in the ER does however not exclude the possibility that caveolae are important for the insulin induced activation of PDE3B. One possibility is that whole caveolae containing activated insulin signaling proteins, caveolin-1 and cholesterol are internalized after insulin stimulation to the ER. The activated proteins can then phosphorylate and activate PDE3B in the ER and perhaps other signaling proteins. A second possibility is that insulin activates the PI3K signaling cascade in caveolae which forms a complex that diffuses to the ER and PDE3B. A third possibility is that the caveolae and ER have direct physical contact. These suggestions are in line with studies summarized by Cohen et al [69] which show that caveolae and caveolin proteins have a role in insulin signaling and diabetes. On the other hand according to Pilch et al [89] there are

50

so far not enough experimental data to be sure that caveolae are essential for the insulin signal to propagate in adipocytes. However, caveolin-1 and cholesterol are certainly important for normal insulin signaling [70, 201, 202]. We have demonstrated that PDE3B expression and activity is dependent on both cholesterol and caveolin-1 and that the insulin stimulated PDE3B complex formation in the ER is dependent on caveolin-1 and possibly also on cholesterol. Caveolin-1 is probably, as demonstrated by our results, one of the central scaffolding molecules in the insulin stimulated complex and thereby essential for the insulin signal. Cholesterol and caveolin-1 might also be part of raft structures in the ER which could be important for the ability of molecules in the insulin stimulated PDE3B macromolecular complex to interact with and/or find each other.

The results of this thesis serve as a starting point for further studies on the exact role for each of the phosphorylation sites of PDE3B. One interesting aspect to highlight is the connection between PDE3B phosphorylation sites and PDE3B interactions. There are two different possibilities in this regard. One possibility is that PDE3B after stimulation first is phosphorylated and then becomes part of the complex. This means that certain phosphorylation sites of PDE3B act as docking sites for different interacting proteins, which makes PDE3B part of the stimulated macromolecular complex. This supported by the fact that only phosphorylated PDE3B, especially phosphorylated on S273 and S296, interact with 14-3-3 proteins [191]. Another possibility is that PDE3B after simulation first becomes part of the complex and then is phosphorylated, which means that the interactions are not dependent on the PDE3B phosphorylations. This later possibility could involve the following speculations. Basal state PDE3B interact with different molecules such as AKAP and AS47 (shown to interact with PDE3B [193]), which is supported by that the fact that PDE3B in the basal state elutes as in a complex around 700 kDa from a gelfiltration column. After catecholamine/insulin stimulation signaling proteins interact with each other and form a complex which then interacts with PDE3B either through direct interactions (not likely since PDE3B is not the central scaffold according to our results) or through indirect interactions for example via AKAP or AS47. The formed macromolecular complexes contain different kinases such as PKA or PKB which will phosphorylate PDE3B. Since PDE3B is multisite phosphorylated in response to insulin and catecholamines both of the possibilities mentioned above might be important and can generate a phosphorylation/interaction cycle partly illustrated in figure 9. Additional investigations are however needed to get a full picture. Inversigations needs to be done on the role for each PDE3B phosphorylation site for PDE3B interactions with other proteins. In addition more needs to be done regarding the interactions of PDE3B both in the stimulated and unstimulated state. This

could be done for example with proteomics analysis of the PDE3B complexes. Another approach would be to more specifically study the interactions for example between AKAP or AS47 and PDE3B.

When I look at the results from the localization and interaction studies a picture appears regarding important kinases responsible for the phosphorylation of PDE3B. In the localization studies the results show that PKB translocates to the ER/PM specifically in response to insulin and PKA translocates to the PM specifically in response to CL-316243 as illustrated in figure 11. In the interaction studies the results show that PKB is part of the macromolecular complex containing PDE3B only in response to insulin while PKA is part of the formed macromolecular complex containing PDE3B only in response to CL-316243. Although other kinases than PKA and PKB might be involved in the phosphorylation of PDE3B, the results support the hypothesis that catecholamines mediate the phosphorylations on S273, S296 and S421 in PDE3B via PKA and insulin mediate the phosphorylations of S273, S296 and possibly S421 via PKB. More investigations are needed to confirm this hypothesis or find other possible PDE3B kinases.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

I min avhandling har jag undersökt hur fosfodiesteras 3B (PDE3B) i fettväven styrs vid svar på två typer av hormoner nämligen, insulin och katekolaminer. Det senare innefattar hormoner så som adrenalin och nor-adrenalin. Varför är då detta intressant att veta? I Sverige och världen har mängden människor med fetma under de senaste åren ökat lavinartat, vilket är en stor hälsofara. En av anledningarna till att det är en stor hälsofara är att risken för att utveckla diabetes är mycket stor hos människor med fetma, ca 10 % av alla människor som lider av fetma har diabetes. En viktig koppling mellan fetma och diabetes ligger till stor del i att fettväven som främst består av fettceller inte kan lagra allt fett i kroppen och att det därmed till viss del istället cirkulerar i blodet i form av fria fettsyror som hamnar i lever och muskler. För att kunna förhindra att fettsyror hamnar i blodet och att fett lagras i muskler och i lever är det viktigt att förstå hur fettcellerna styrs till att bygga upp och bryta ned sitt lager av fett. Det skulle ju vara bra att kunna öka fettcellernas kapacitet att lagra fettet så att det inte hamnar på fel ställe i kroppen där det kan ha ohälsosamma effekter. Det enzym som jag har studerat, nämligen PDE3B är med och styr denna lagring av fett genom att stoppa nedbrytningen av fett i fettcellen till fettsyror i blodcirkulationen. Detta betyder att då PDE3B är aktiverat minskar mängden fett som hamnar i vårt blodomlopp. Två typer av hormon som är särskilt viktiga för att styra aktiviteten av PDE3B är insulin och katekolaminer. Katekolaminer binder till dess receptorer på fettcellens vta vilket leder till aktivering av signalvägar som består av olika proteiner och signalmolekyler som aktiveras eller bildas genom att påverka varandra och slutligen leda stimulering av fettlagrets nedbrytning. För att inte nedbrytningen av fettlagret skall bli allt för stor och hållas i schakt aktiveras även PDE3B av en parallell signalväg igångsatt av samma hormon. Insulin som frisätts till blodomloppet efter en måltid har motsatt effekt jämfört med katekolaminer vad gäller fettinlagring. När insulin binder dess receptor på fettcellens yta aktiveras andra signalvägar som leder till att PDE3B aktiveras och stoppar fettlagrets nedbrytning och minskar därmed de fria fettsyrorna i blodomloppet.

Jag har studerat hur PDE3B aktiveras i fettceller vid svar på insulin och katekolaminer utifrån tre olika infallsvinklar som alla är viltiga för att få en helhetsbild. Dessa infallsvinklar är; 1) fosforylering av PDE3B, 2) lokalisationen av PDE3B och 3) PDE3Bs interaktioner med olika proteiner och kolesterol. När det gäller fosforylering hade det tidigare visats att insulin och katekolaminer kan aktivera PDE3Bs enzymatiska kapacitet genom att sätta fart på andra proteiner att sätta fosfor på PDE3B. I frågan om PDE3Bs lokalisation hade det då jag initierade mina studier visats att PDE3B var stationerat vid det endoplasmatiska retikelet (ER) som är en struktur inne i fettcellen. I princip

fanns det dock ingen kunskap om rollen för denna lokalisation vid aktivering av PDE3B. Slutligen beträffande PDE3Bs interaktioner med molekyler fanns det indikationer på att PDE3B befann sig i ett komplex tillsammans andra proteiner. Vilka proteiner det kunde vara och vilken roll interaktionerna med PDE3B i komplexet kunde ha för aktiveringen av PDE3B var dock inte känt. I mina studier har jag genererat ytterliggare kunskap för att få en bild av hur PDE3B aktiveras vid svar på insulin och katekolaminer. Främst har jag kommit fram till följande med utgångspunkt i de tre olika infallsvinklarna.

- 1. PDE3B i fettceller blir fosforylerat på många olika ställen vid svar på både insulin och katekolaminer. Dessutom har jag identifierat 6 olika fosforyleringssäten på PDE3B i fettceller.
- 2. PDE3B finns på två olika ställen i fettcellen nämligen i en speciell struktur i ytskiktet runt cellen som kallas caveolae och på ett ställe längre in i cellen som kallas endoplasmatiskt retikulum (ER). PDE3B i caveolae stimuleras endast av katekolaminer medan PDE3B i ER endast stimuleras av insulin.
- 3. PDE3B interagerar med andra proteiner i ett stort komplex vid svar på insulin och katekolaminer i fettcellen. Många av dessa proteiner har identifierats och ett protein, caveolin-1 har visats vara särskilt viktigt.

I mina studier har jag därmed tillfört stor kunskap till styrningen av PDE3B och fettcellernas fettlagring. I diabetessammanhang skulle det vara bra att förstärka inlagringen av fett dvs. förstärka insulinsignalen och aktiveringen av PDE3B i fettcellerna. Ett läkemedel med en fettcellsspecifik PDE3B aktivator skulle antagligen ha gynnsamma effekter eftersom det skulle leda till minskad mängd fettsyror i blodcirkulation och därmed minskad fettlagring i lever och muskler. I mina studier finns det en del nya perspektiv till hur en sådan PDE3B aktivator skulle kunna se ut.

Acknowledgements

How can I even start to thank everyone who has supported me during the last four years!! Without you colleagues, family and friends none of this work would have been possible. In the following will try to put words on my deepest gratitude to a number of people.

Eva Degerman, my inspiring supervisor. Thank you for your devoted, encouraging and firm supervision during the work with this thesis. It has been a lot of fun to sit in your office and have end-less discussions on research. Thank you for teaching me how to think research and keep on track. You are the best supervisor one could ever wish for and your enthusiasm is extraordinary. Your energy have many times lightened my day and given me energy to take one more step in my projects. Thank you also for always having time to listen both to problems and fun results.

My collaboration partners:

Vincent Manganiello and Faiyaz Ahmad, thank you for giving me one more dimension on how to evaluate research results. You have often given me many new and essential ideas in my projects. Without you this thesis would not be what it is today. Karl Svärd, thank you for your expert knowledge in the field of caveolae and of course for letting me collaborate with you. Nils Wierup, thank you for nice chats and help with electron microscopy. Peter strålfors, Anita Öst and Iida Ruishalme, thank you for your willingness to collaborate and company on the diabetes course in Linköping and conference in Stockholm. I have really enjoyed our research discussions on caveolae.

All of the present and former members of the research group:

Helena Walz, my PhD colleague and friend. Thank you for lightening up my days at the lab and for interesting conversations. It has been a pleasure to share office with you and get to know you. Thank you for understanding my situation and for fantastic times at conferences. Thank you for being the perfect person to confide in and I hope that our friendship will last a lifetime. Svante Resjö, my co-supervisor. Thank you for sharing your knowledge and guiding me through difficult technical problems. It has been fun working with you. Emilia Zmuda-Trezebiatowska, thank you for sharing you knowledge and interesting conversations. Lena Stenson, thank you for your for good advice regarding research and personal problems. It is always fun when you are in the room. Olga Göransson, thank you for giving good advice on how to go one step further in my projects and for taking me on as a summer student. Eva

Olsson, thank you for always being there and off course excellent assays and westernblotts. Thank you also for helping me when I need it the most. **AnnKi Holmen-Påhlbrink**, thank you for giving a high energy atmosphere and for knowing how to do everything. **Alina Oknianska** thank you for you pleasant laughter and for being so nice. **Tova Rahn-Landström**, thank you being a good role model. **Fredrik Svennelid**, thank you for interesting discussions. **Linda Härndahl** and **Lina Åkesson**, thank you for fun dissertation parties.

All of the present and former neighbours on BMC C11:

Ulrika Andersson, thank you for your engaged work on the caveolae project without you the project wouldn't have gone so far. Peter Osmark, Celine Fernandez, Kristoffer Ström, Christian Krintel, Birgitta Danielsson, Stephanie Lucas, Cecilia Holm, Cecilia Klint, Sara Larsson, Ola Hansson, Ann-Helen Thorén, Håkan Lindvall, Jörgen Borg, Marin Fex, Ulrika Fransson, Karl Bacos, Marloes Dekker-Nitert, Andreas Lindqvist, thank you all for interesting research discussions, technical knowledge and of course fun lab parties and coffee breaks. Thank you for creating a good atmosphere in the lab. Ingegerd Persson, Elisabeth Ringsjö, Åsa Söderberg, Hindrik Mulder, Erik Rehnström, thank you for interesting discussions and support.

All of my wonderful family and friends

Andreas, thank you for being you and see to that I come home from the lab every evening. Mamma and pappa, thank you for always supporting me through out my whole life, you are wonderful. Helena and Simon thank you for your support and wonderful times. All of my friends you know who you are and without you life would only be half as fun.

The work was supported by Swedish Medical Research Council Project 3362 for Eva Degerman; the Royal Physiographic society, Lund, Sweden; Läkaresällskapet i Lund, Lund, Sweden; Medical Faculty at Lund University, Lund, Sweden; the Påhlsson Foundation, Malmö, Sweden; Novo Nordisk, Copenhagen, Denmark; the Swedish Diabetes foundation, Sweden; the Diabetes Program Lund University, Lund, Sweden.

References

[1] K. N. Frayn, Metabolic Regulation, in, Portlan Press, New York, 2003, pp. 59-150.

[2] M. I. Harris, Definition and classification of diabetes mellitus and criteria for diagnosis, in Diabetes mellitus - a fundamental and clinical text, in LeRoith, D., Taylor, S. I., and Olefsky, J. M., (Eds.), Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, 2004, pp. 457-467.

[3] E. A. M. Gale, Declassifying diabetes, Diabetologia 49 (2006) 1989-1995.

[4] A. S. Avram, M. M. Avram, and W. D. James, Subcutaneous fat in normal and diseased states: 2. Anatomy and physiology of white and brown adipose tissue, J Am Acad Dermatol 53 (2005) 671-683.

[5] E. D. Rosen, and B. M. Spiegelman, Adipocytes as regulators of energy balance and glucose homeostasis, Nature 444 (2006) 847-853.

[6] T. S. Burgert, Glucose and insulin metabolism in obese youth, Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 3 Suppl 4 (2006) 555-559.

[7] M. L. Reitman, E. Arioglu, O. Gavrilova, and S. I. Taylor, Lipoatrophy revisited, Trends Endocrinol Metab 11 (2000) 410-416.

[8] K. N. Frayn, S. M. Humphreys, and S. W. Coppack, Fuel selection in white adipose tissue, Proc Nutr Soc 54 (1995) 177-189.

[9] P. Belfrage, B. Jergil, P. Stralfors, and H. Tornqvist, Hormone-sensitive lipase of rat adipose tissue: identification and some properties of the enzyme protein, FEBS Lett 75 (1977) 259-264.

[10] G. Fredrikson, H. Tornqvist, and P. Belfrage, Hormone-sensitive lipase and monoacylglycerol lipase are both required for complete degradation of adipocyte triacylglycerol, Biochim Biophys Acta 876 (1986) 288-293.

[11] R. Zimmermann, J. G. Strauss, G. Haemmerle, G. Schoiswohl, R. Birner-Gruenberger, M. Riederer, A. Lass, G. Neuberger, F. Eisenhaber, A. Hermetter, and R. Zechner, Fat mobilization in adipose tissue is promoted by adipose triglyceride lipase, Science 306 (2004) 1383-1386.

[12] R. Zechner, J. G. Strauss, G. Haemmerle, A. Lass, and R. Zimmermann, Lipolysis: pathway under construction, Curr Opin Lipidol 16 (2005) 333-340.

[13] D. Langin, A. Dicker, G. Tavernier, J. Hoffstedt, A. Mairal, M. Ryden, E. Arner, A. Sicard, C. M. Jenkins, N. Viguerie, V. van Harmelen, R. W. Gross, C. Holm, and P. Arner, Adipocyte lipases and defect of lipolysis in human obesity, Diabetes 54 (2005) 3190-3197.

[14] M. W. Anthonsen, L. Ronnstrand, C. Wernstedt, E. Degerman, and C. Holm, Identification of novel phosphorylation sites in hormone-sensitive lipase that are phosphorylated in response to isoproterenol and govern activation properties in vitro, J Biol Chem 273 (1998) 215-221.

[15] J. J. Egan, A. S. Greenberg, M. K. Chang, S. A. Wek, M. C. Moos, Jr., and C. Londos, Mechanism of hormone-stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes: translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase to the lipid storage droplet, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89 (1992) 8537-8541.

[16] C. Holm, Molecular mechanisms regulating hormone-sensitive lipase and lipolysis, Biochem Soc Trans 31 (2003) 1120-1124.

[17] G. M. Clifford, C. Londos, F. B. Kraemer, R. G. Vernon, and S. J. Yeaman, Translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase and perilipin upon lipolytic stimulation of rat adipocytes, J Biol Chem 275 (2000) 5011-5015.

[18] J. A. Villena, S. Roy, E. Sarkadi-Nagy, K. H. Kim, and H. S. Sul, Desnutrin, an adipocyte gene encoding a novel patatin domain-containing protein, is induced by fasting and glucocorticoids: ectopic expression of desnutrin increases triglyceride hydrolysis, J Biol Chem 279 (2004) 47066-47075.

[19] Y. Shakur, L. S. Holst, T. R. Landstrom, M. Movsesian, E. Degerman, and V. Manganiello, Regulation and function of the cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE3) gene family, Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 66 (2001) 241-277.

[20] P. Trayhurn, and I. S. Wood, Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue, Br J Nutr 92 (2004) 347-355.

[21] G. Fantuzzi, Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation, J Allergy Clin Immunol 115 (2005) 911-919; quiz 920.

[22] C. H. Lundgren, S. L. Brown, T. K. Nordt, B. E. Sobel, and S. Fujii, Elaboration of type-1 plasminogen activator inhibitor from adipocytes. A potential pathogenetic link between obesity and cardiovascular disease, Circulation 93 (1996) 106-110.

[23] F. Massiera, M. Bloch-Faure, D. Ceiler, K. Murakami, A. Fukamizu, J. M. Gasc, A. Quignard-Boulange, R. Negrel, G. Ailhaud, J. Seydoux, P. Meneton, and M. Teboul, Adipose angiotensinogen is involved in adipose tissue growth and blood pressure regulation, Faseb J 15 (2001) 2727-2729.

[24] J. M. Friedman, and J. L. Halaas, Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals, Nature 395 (1998) 763-770.

[25] R. B. Harris, Leptin--much more than a satiety signal, Annu Rev Nutr 20 (2000) 45-75.

[26] E. Ferrannini, A. Natali, P. Bell, P. Cavallo-Perin, N. Lalic, and G. Mingrone, Insulin resistance and hypersecretion in obesity. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR), J Clin Invest 100 (1997) 1166-1173.

[27] G. M. Reaven, C. Hollenbeck, C. Y. Jeng, M. S. Wu, and Y. D. Chen, Measurement of plasma glucose, free fatty acid, lactate, and insulin for 24 h in patients with NIDDM, Diabetes 37 (1988) 1020-1024.

[28] D. J. Evans, R. G. Hoffmann, R. K. Kalkhoff, and A. H. Kissebah, Relationship of body fat topography to insulin sensitivity and metabolic profiles in premenopausal women, Metabolism 33 (1984) 68-75.

[29] F. Giorgino, L. Laviola, and J. W. Eriksson, Regional differences of insulin action in adipose tissue: insights from in vivo and in vitro studies, Acta Physiol Scand 183 (2005) 13-30.

[30] V. Van Harmelen, F. Lonnqvist, A. Thorne, A. Wennlund, V. Large, S. Reynisdottir, and P. Arner, Noradrenaline-induced lipolysis in isolated mesenteric, omental and subcutaneous adipocytes from obese subjects, Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 21 (1997) 972-979.

[31] J. R. Zierath, J. N. Livingston, A. Thorne, J. Bolinder, S. Reynisdottir, F. Lonnqvist, and P. Arner, Regional difference in insulin inhibition of nonesterified fatty acid release from human adipocytes: relation to insulin receptor phosphorylation and intracellular signalling through the insulin receptor substrate-1 pathway, Diabetologia 41 (1998) 1343-1354.

[32] R. H. Unger, and Y. T. Zhou, Lipotoxicity of beta-cells in obesity and in other causes of fatty acid spillover, Diabetes 50 Suppl 1 (2001) S118-121.

[33] D. B. Savage, K. F. Petersen, and G. I. Shulman, Disordered lipid metabolism and the pathogenesis of insulin resistance, Physiol Rev 87 (2007) 507-520.

[34] M. Krssak, K. Falk Petersen, A. Dresner, L. DiPietro, S. M. Vogel, D. L. Rothman, M. Roden, and G. I. Shulman, Intramyocellular lipid concentrations are correlated with insulin sensitivity in humans: a 1H NMR spectroscopy study, Diabetologia 42 (1999) 113-116.

[35] K. Koyama, G. Chen, Y. Lee, and R. H. Unger, Tissue triglycerides, insulin resistance, and insulin production: implications for hyperinsulinemia of obesity, Am J Physiol 273 (1997) E708-713.

[36] P. J. Randle, P. B. Garland, E. A. Newsholme, and C. N. Hales, The glucose fatty acid cycle in obesity and maturity onset diabetes mellitus, Ann N Y Acad Sci 131 (1965) 324-333.

[37] G. W. Cline, K. F. Petersen, M. Krssak, J. Shen, R. S. Hundal, Z. Trajanoski, S. Inzucchi, A. Dresner, D. L. Rothman, and G. I. Shulman, Impaired glucose transport as a cause of decreased insulin-stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis in type 2 diabetes, N Engl J Med 341 (1999) 240-246.

[38] M. E. Griffin, M. J. Marcucci, G. W. Cline, K. Bell, N. Barucci, D. Lee, L. J. Goodyear, E. W. Kraegen, M. F. White, and G. I. Shulman, Free fatty acidinduced insulin resistance is associated with activation of protein kinase C theta and alterations in the insulin signaling cascade, Diabetes 48 (1999) 1270-1274.

[39] S. R. Crespin, W. B. Greenough, 3rd, and D. Steinberg, Stimulation of insulin secretion by infusion of free fatty acids, J Clin Invest 48 (1969) 1934-1943.

[40] J. S. Yudkin, C. D. Stehouwer, J. J. Emeis, and S. W. Coppack, C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: associations with obesity, insulin resistance, and endothelial dysfunction: a potential role for cytokines originating from adipose tissue?, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19 (1999) 972-978.

[41] K. E. Wellen, and G. S. Hotamisligil, Inflammation, stress, and diabetes, J Clin Invest 115 (2005) 1111-1119.

[42] H. Xu, G. T. Barnes, Q. Yang, G. Tan, D. Yang, C. J. Chou, J. Sole, A. Nichols, J. S. Ross, L. A. Tartaglia, and H. Chen, Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance, J Clin Invest 112 (2003) 1821-1830.

[43] S. P. Weisberg, D. McCann, M. Desai, M. Rosenbaum, R. L. Leibel, and A. W. Ferrante, Jr., Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue, J Clin Invest 112 (2003) 1796-1808.

[44] G. Charriere, B. Cousin, E. Arnaud, M. Andre, F. Bacou, L. Penicaud, and L. Casteilla, Preadipocyte conversion to macrophage. Evidence of plasticity, J Biol Chem 278 (2003) 9850-9855.

[45] S. P. Weisberg, D. Hunter, R. Huber, J. Lemieux, S. Slaymaker, K. Vaddi, I. Charo, R. L. Leibel, and A. W. Ferrante, Jr., CCR2 modulates inflammatory and metabolic effects of high-fat feeding, J Clin Invest 116 (2006) 115-124.

[46] T. Christiansen, B. Richelsen, and J. M. Bruun, Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is produced in isolated adipocytes, associated with adiposity and reduced after weight loss in morbid obese subjects, Int J Obes (Lond) 29 (2005) 146-150.

[47] G. S. Hotamisligil, P. Peraldi, A. Budavari, R. Ellis, M. F. White, and B. M. Spiegelman, IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alpha- and obesity-induced insulin resistance, Science 271 (1996) 665-668.

[48] M. M. Avram, A. S. Avram, and W. D. James, Subcutaneous fat in normal and diseased states 3. Adipogenesis: from stem cell to fat cell, J Am Acad Dermatol 56 (2007) 472-492.

[49] J. Berger, and D. E. Moller, The mechanisms of action of PPARs, Annu Rev Med 53 (2002) 409-435.

[50] U. B. Pajvani, M. Hawkins, T. P. Combs, M. W. Rajala, T. Doebber, J. P. Berger, J. A. Wagner, M. Wu, A. Knopps, A. H. Xiang, K. M. Utzschneider, S. E. Kahn, J. M. Olefsky, T. A. Buchanan, and P. E. Scherer, Complex distribution, not absolute amount of adiponectin, correlates with thiazolidinedione-mediated improvement in insulin sensitivity, J Biol Chem 279 (2004) 12152-12162.

[51] E. Yamada, The fine structure of the gall bladder epithelium of the mouse, J Biophys Biochem Cytol 1 (1955) 445-458.

[52] D. A. Brown, and E. London, Functions of lipid rafts in biological membranes, Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 14 (1998) 111-136.

[53] B. Razani, S. E. Woodman, and M. P. Lisanti, Caveolae: from cell biology to animal physiology, Pharmacol Rev 54 (2002) 431-467.

[54] K. G. Rothberg, J. E. Heuser, W. C. Donzell, Y. S. Ying, J. R. Glenney, and R. G. Anderson, Caveolin, a protein component of caveolae membrane coats, Cell 68 (1992) 673-682.

[55] J. R. Glenney, Jr., Tyrosine phosphorylation of a 22-kDa protein is correlated with transformation by Rous sarcoma virus, J Biol Chem 264 (1989) 20163-20166.

[56] M. Way, and R. G. Parton, M-caveolin, a muscle-specific caveolin-related protein, FEBS Lett 376 (1995) 108-112.

[57] P. E. Scherer, T. Okamoto, M. Chun, I. Nishimoto, H. F. Lodish, and M. P. Lisanti, Identification, sequence, and expression of caveolin-2 defines a caveolin gene family, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93 (1996) 131-135.

[58] P. E. Scherer, R. Y. Lewis, D. Volonte, J. A. Engelman, F. Galbiati, J. Couet, D. S. Kohtz, E. van Donselaar, P. Peters, and M. P. Lisanti, Cell-type and tissue-specific expression of caveolin-2. Caveolins 1 and 2 co-localize and form a stable hetero-oligomeric complex in vivo, J Biol Chem 272 (1997) 29337-29346.

[59] D. J. Dietzen, W. R. Hastings, and D. M. Lublin, Caveolin is palmitoylated on multiple cysteine residues. Palmitoylation is not necessary for localization of caveolin to caveolae, J Biol Chem 270 (1995) 6838-6842.

[60] A. Schlegel, and M. P. Lisanti, A molecular dissection of caveolin-1 membrane attachment and oligomerization. Two separate regions of the caveolin-1 C-terminal domain mediate membrane binding and oligomer/oligomer interactions in vivo, J Biol Chem 275 (2000) 21605-21617.

[61] P. Liu, M. Rudick, and R. G. Anderson, Multiple functions of caveolin-1, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 41295-41298.

[62] A. Tagawa, A. Mezzacasa, A. Hayer, A. Longatti, L. Pelkmans, and A. Helenius, Assembly and trafficking of caveolar domains in the cell: caveolae as stable, cargo-triggered, vesicular transporters, J Cell Biol 170 (2005) 769-779.

[63] P. Thomsen, K. Roepstorff, M. Stahlhut, and B. van Deurs, Caveolae are highly immobile plasma membrane microdomains, which are not involved in constitutive endocytic trafficking, Mol Biol Cell 13 (2002) 238-250.

[64] D. K. Sharma, J. C. Brown, A. Choudhury, T. E. Peterson, E. Holicky, D. L. Marks, R. Simari, R. G. Parton, and R. E. Pagano, Selective stimulation of caveolar endocytosis by glycosphingolipids and cholesterol, Mol Biol Cell 15 (2004) 3114-3122.

[65] R. G. Parton, and K. Simons, The multiple faces of caveolae, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8 (2007) 185-194.

[66] M. Murata, J. Peranen, R. Schreiner, F. Wieland, T. V. Kurzchalia, and K. Simons, VIP21/caveolin is a cholesterol-binding protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92 (1995) 10339-10343.

[67] M. P. Lisanti, P. E. Scherer, Z. Tang, and M. Sargiacomo, Caveolae, caveolin and caveolin-rich membrane domains: a signalling hypothesis, Trends Cell Biol 4 (1994) 231-235.

[68] R. S. Ostrom, and P. A. Insel, The evolving role of lipid rafts and caveolae in G protein-coupled receptor signaling: implications for molecular pharmacology, Br J Pharmacol 143 (2004) 235-245.

[69] A. W. Cohen, T. P. Combs, P. E. Scherer, and M. P. Lisanti, Role of caveolin and caveolae in insulin signaling and diabetes, Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 285 (2003) E1151-1160.

[70] Y. Ishikawa, K. Otsu, and J. Oshikawa, Caveolin; different roles for insulin signal?, Cell Signal 17 (2005) 1175-1182.

[71] M. Yamamoto, Y. Toya, C. Schwencke, M. P. Lisanti, M. G. Myers, Jr., and Y. Ishikawa, Caveolin is an activator of insulin receptor signaling, J Biol Chem 273 (1998) 26962-26968.

[72] A. W. Cohen, R. Hnasko, W. Schubert, and M. P. Lisanti, Role of caveolae and caveolins in health and disease, Physiol Rev 84 (2004) 1341-1379.

[73] J. A. Engelman, X. L. Zhang, and M. P. Lisanti, Genes encoding human caveolin-1 and -2 are co-localized to the D7S522 locus (7q31.1), a known fragile site (FRA7G) that is frequently deleted in human cancers, FEBS Lett 436 (1998) 403-410.

[74] T. Hayashi, T. Arimura, K. Ueda, H. Shibata, S. Hohda, M. Takahashi, H. Hori, Y. Koga, N. Oka, T. Imaizumi, M. Yasunami, and A. Kimura, Identification and functional analysis of a caveolin-3 mutation associated with familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 313 (2004) 178-184.

[75] S. E. Woodman, D. S. Park, A. W. Cohen, M. W. Cheung, M. Chandra, J. Shirani, B. Tang, L. A. Jelicks, R. N. Kitsis, G. J. Christ, S. M. Factor, H. B. Tanowitz, and M. P. Lisanti, Caveolin-3 knock-out mice develop a progressive cardiomyopathy and show hyperactivation of the p42/44 MAPK cascade, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 38988-38997.

[76] M. Drab, P. Verkade, M. Elger, M. Kasper, M. Lohn, B. Lauterbach, J. Menne, C. Lindschau, F. Mende, F. C. Luft, A. Schedl, H. Haller, and T. V. Kurzchalia, Loss of caveolae, vascular dysfunction, and pulmonary defects in caveolin-1 gene-disrupted mice, Science 293 (2001) 2449-2452.

[77] B. Razani, J. A. Engelman, X. B. Wang, W. Schubert, X. L. Zhang, C. B. Marks, F. Macaluso, R. G. Russell, M. Li, R. G. Pestell, D. Di Vizio, H. Hou, Jr., B. Kneitz, G. Lagaud, G. J. Christ, W. Edelmann, and M. P. Lisanti, Caveolin-1 null mice are viable but show evidence of hyperproliferative and vascular abnormalities, J Biol Chem 276 (2001) 38121-38138.

[78] B. Razani, T. P. Combs, X. B. Wang, P. G. Frank, D. S. Park, R. G. Russell, M. Li, B. Tang, L. A. Jelicks, P. E. Scherer, and M. P. Lisanti,

Caveolin-1-deficient mice are lean, resistant to diet-induced obesity, and show hypertriglyceridemia with adipocyte abnormalities, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 8635-8647.

[79] A. W. Cohen, B. Razani, W. Schubert, T. M. Williams, X. B. Wang, P. Iyengar, D. L. Brasaemle, P. E. Scherer, and M. P. Lisanti, Role of caveolin-1 in the modulation of lipolysis and lipid droplet formation, Diabetes 53 (2004) 1261-1270.

[80] B. Razani, C. S. Rubin, and M. P. Lisanti, Regulation of cAMP-mediated signal transduction via interaction of caveolins with the catalytic subunit of protein kinase A, J Biol Chem 274 (1999) 26353-26360.

[81] S. Martin, and R. G. Parton, Caveolin, cholesterol, and lipid bodies, Semin Cell Dev Biol 16 (2005) 163-174.

[82] A. Ost, U. Ortegren, J. Gustavsson, F. H. Nystrom, and P. Stralfors, Triacylglycerol is synthesized in a specific subclass of caveolae in primary adipocytes, J Biol Chem 280 (2005) 5-8.

[83] T. Okamoto, A. Schlegel, P. E. Scherer, and M. P. Lisanti, Caveolins, a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing "preassembled signaling complexes" at the plasma membrane, J Biol Chem 273 (1998) 5419-5422.

[84] J. Gustavsson, S. Parpal, M. Karlsson, C. Ramsing, H. Thorn, M. Borg, M. Lindroth, K. H. Peterson, K. E. Magnusson, and P. Stralfors, Localization of the insulin receptor in caveolae of adipocyte plasma membrane, Faseb J 13 (1999) 1961-1971.

[85] M. Karlsson, H. Thorn, S. Parpal, P. Stralfors, and J. Gustavsson, Insulin induces translocation of glucose transporter GLUT4 to plasma membrane caveolae in adipocytes, Faseb J 16 (2002) 249-251.

[86] A. W. Cohen, B. Razani, X. B. Wang, T. P. Combs, T. M. Williams, P. E. Scherer, and M. P. Lisanti, Caveolin-1-deficient mice show insulin resistance and defective insulin receptor protein expression in adipose tissue, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 285 (2003) C222-235.

[87] F. Capozza, T. P. Combs, A. W. Cohen, Y. R. Cho, S. Y. Park, W. Schubert, T. M. Williams, D. L. Brasaemle, L. A. Jelicks, P. E. Scherer, J. K. Kim, and M. P. Lisanti, Caveolin-3 knockout mice show increased adiposity and whole body insulin resistance, with ligand-induced insulin receptor instability in skeletal muscle, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 288 (2005) C1317-1331.

[88] R. P. Souto, G. Vallega, J. Wharton, J. Vinten, J. Tranum-Jensen, and P. F. Pilch, Immunopurification and characterization of rat adipocyte caveolae suggest their dissociation from insulin signaling, J Biol Chem 278 (2003) 18321-18329.

[89] P. F. Pilch, R. P. Souto, L. Liu, M. P. Jedrychowski, E. A. Berg, C. E. Costello, and S. P. Gygi, Cellular spelunking: exploring adipocyte caveolae, J Lipid Res (2007).

[90] M. Foti, G. Porcheron, M. Fournier, C. Maeder, and J. L. Carpentier, The neck of caveolae is a distinct plasma membrane subdomain that concentrates insulin receptors in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104 (2007) 1242-1247.

[91] M. F. White, and C. R. Kahn, The insulin signaling system, J Biol Chem 269 (1994) 1-4.

[92] A. J. Ablooglu, and R. A. Kohanski, Activation of the insulin receptor's kinase domain changes the rate-determining step of substrate phosphorylation, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 504-513.

[93] X. J. Sun, P. Rothenberg, C. R. Kahn, J. M. Backer, E. Araki, P. A. Wilden, D. A. Cahill, B. J. Goldstein, and M. F. White, Structure of the insulin receptor substrate IRS-1 defines a unique signal transduction protein, Nature 352 (1991) 73-77.

[94] M. F. White, and L. Yenush, The IRS-signaling system: a network of docking proteins that mediate insulin and cytokine action, Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 228 (1998) 179-208.

[95] T. Sasaoka, D. W. Rose, B. H. Jhun, A. R. Saltiel, B. Draznin, and J. M. Olefsky, Evidence for a functional role of Shc proteins in mitogenic signaling induced by insulin, insulin-like growth factor-1, and epidermal growth factor, J Biol Chem 269 (1994) 13689-13694.

[96] M. Holgado-Madruga, D. R. Emlet, D. K. Moscatello, A. K. Godwin, and A. J. Wong, A Grb2-associated docking protein in EGF- and insulin-receptor signalling, Nature 379 (1996) 560-564.

[97] C. A. Baumann, V. Ribon, M. Kanzaki, D. C. Thurmond, S. Mora, S. Shigematsu, P. E. Bickel, J. E. Pessin, and A. R. Saltiel, CAP defines a second signalling pathway required for insulin-stimulated glucose transport, Nature 407 (2000) 202-207.

[98] E. Y. Skolnik, A. Batzer, N. Li, C. H. Lee, E. Lowenstein, M. Mohammadi, B. Margolis, and J. Schlessinger, The function of GRB2 in linking the insulin receptor to Ras signaling pathways, Science 260 (1993) 1953-1955.

[99] S. H. Chiang, C. A. Baumann, M. Kanzaki, D. C. Thurmond, R. T. Watson, C. L. Neudauer, I. G. Macara, J. E. Pessin, and A. R. Saltiel, Insulinstimulated GLUT4 translocation requires the CAP-dependent activation of TC10, Nature 410 (2001) 944-948.

[100] B. Giovannone, M. L. Scaldaferri, M. Federici, O. Porzio, D. Lauro, A. Fusco, P. Sbraccia, P. Borboni, R. Lauro, and G. Sesti, Insulin receptor substrate (IRS) transduction system: distinct and overlapping signaling potential, Diabetes Metab Res Rev 16 (2000) 434-441.

[101] M. Anai, H. Ono, M. Funaki, Y. Fukushima, K. Inukai, T. Ogihara, H. Sakoda, Y. Onishi, Y. Yazaki, M. Kikuchi, Y. Oka, and T. Asano, Different subcellular distribution and regulation of expression of insulin receptor

substrate (IRS)-3 from those of IRS-1 and IRS-2, J Biol Chem 273 (1998) 29686-29692.

[102] H. Abe, N. Yamada, K. Kamata, T. Kuwaki, M. Shimada, J. Osuga, F. Shionoiri, N. Yahagi, T. Kadowaki, H. Tamemoto, S. Ishibashi, Y. Yazaki, and M. Makuuchi, Hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia, and impaired endotheliumdependent vascular relaxation in mice lacking insulin receptor substrate-1, J Clin Invest 101 (1998) 1784-1788.

[103] N. Kubota, K. Tobe, Y. Terauchi, K. Eto, T. Yamauchi, R. Suzuki, Y. Tsubamoto, K. Komeda, R. Nakano, H. Miki, S. Satoh, H. Sekihara, S. Sciacchitano, M. Lesniak, S. Aizawa, R. Nagai, S. Kimura, Y. Akanuma, S. I. Taylor, and T. Kadowaki, Disruption of insulin receptor substrate 2 causes type 2 diabetes because of liver insulin resistance and lack of compensatory beta-cell hyperplasia, Diabetes 49 (2000) 1880-1889.

[104] S. C. Liu, Q. Wang, G. E. Lienhard, and S. R. Keller, Insulin receptor substrate 3 is not essential for growth or glucose homeostasis, J Biol Chem 274 (1999) 18093-18099.

[105] V. R. Fantin, Q. Wang, G. E. Lienhard, and S. R. Keller, Mice lacking insulin receptor substrate 4 exhibit mild defects in growth, reproduction, and glucose homeostasis, Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 278 (2000) E127-133.

[106] L. C. Cantley, The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway, Science 296 (2002) 1655-1657.

[107] P. T. Hawkins, K. E. Anderson, K. Davidson, and L. R. Stephens, Signalling through Class I PI3Ks in mammalian cells, Biochem Soc Trans 34 (2006) 647-662.

[108] J. Yu, Y. Zhang, J. McIlroy, T. Rordorf-Nikolic, G. A. Orr, and J. M. Backer, Regulation of the p85/p110 phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase: stabilization and inhibition of the p110alpha catalytic subunit by the p85 regulatory subunit, Mol Cell Biol 18 (1998) 1379-1387.

[109] T. Rordorf-Nikolic, D. J. Van Horn, D. Chen, M. F. White, and J. M. Backer, Regulation of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase by tyrosyl phosphoproteins. Full activation requires occupancy of both SH2 domains in the 85-kDa regulatory subunit, J Biol Chem 270 (1995) 3662-3666.

[110] E. Patrucco, A. Notte, L. Barberis, G. Selvetella, A. Maffei, M. Brancaccio, S. Marengo, G. Russo, O. Azzolino, S. D. Rybalkin, L. Silengo, F. Altruda, R. Wetzker, M. P. Wymann, G. Lembo, and E. Hirsch, PI3Kgamma modulates the cardiac response to chronic pressure overload by distinct kinase-dependent and -independent effects, Cell 118 (2004) 375-387.

[111] J. A. Le Good, W. H. Ziegler, D. B. Parekh, D. R. Alessi, P. Cohen, and P. J. Parker, Protein kinase C isotypes controlled by phosphoinositide 3-kinase through the protein kinase PDK1, Science 281 (1998) 2042-2045.

[112] D. D. Sarbassov, D. A. Guertin, S. M. Ali, and D. M. Sabatini, Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex, Science 307 (2005) 1098-1101.

[113] J. R. Bayascas, and D. R. Alessi, Regulation of Akt/PKB Ser473 phosphorylation, Mol Cell 18 (2005) 143-145.

[114] H. Cho, J. Mu, J. K. Kim, J. L. Thorvaldsen, Q. Chu, E. B. Crenshaw, 3rd, K. H. Kaestner, M. S. Bartolomei, G. I. Shulman, and M. J. Birnbaum, Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase Akt2 (PKB beta), Science 292 (2001) 1728-1731.

[115] D. A. Cross, D. R. Alessi, P. Cohen, M. Andjelkovich, and B. A. Hemmings, Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B, Nature 378 (1995) 785-789.

[116] P. C. van Weeren, K. M. de Bruyn, A. M. de Vries-Smits, J. van Lint, and B. M. Burgering, Essential role for protein kinase B (PKB) in insulininduced glycogen synthase kinase 3 inactivation. Characterization of dominantnegative mutant of PKB, J Biol Chem 273 (1998) 13150-13156.

[117] W. Zhang, S. Patil, B. Chauhan, S. Guo, D. R. Powell, J. Le, A. Klotsas, R. Matika, X. Xiao, R. Franks, K. A. Heidenreich, M. P. Sajan, R. V. Farese, D. B. Stolz, P. Tso, S. H. Koo, M. Montminy, and T. G. Unterman, FoxO1 regulates multiple metabolic pathways in the liver: effects on gluconeogenic, glycolytic, and lipogenic gene expression, J Biol Chem 281 (2006) 10105-10117.

[118] R. J. Lefkowitz, Historical review: a brief history and personal retrospective of seven-transmembrane receptors, Trends Pharmacol Sci 25 (2004) 413-422.

[119] S. Collins, and R. S. Surwit, The beta-adrenergic receptors and the control of adipose tissue metabolism and thermogenesis, Recent Prog Horm Res 56 (2001) 309-328.

[120] F. Rochais, G. Vandecasteele, F. Lefebvre, C. Lugnier, H. Lum, J. L. Mazet, D. M. Cooper, and R. Fischmeister, Negative feedback exerted by cAMP-dependent protein kinase and cAMP phosphodiesterase on subsarcolemmal cAMP signals in intact cardiac myocytes: an in vivo study using adenovirus-mediated expression of CNG channels, J Biol Chem 279 (2004) 52095-52105.

[121] J. L. Bos, Epac proteins: multi-purpose cAMP targets, Trends Biochem Sci 31 (2006) 680-686.

[122] O. Dyachok, Y. Isakov, J. Sagetorp, and A. Tengholm, Oscillations of cyclic AMP in hormone-stimulated insulin-secreting beta-cells, Nature 439 (2006) 349-352.

[123] M. D. Houslay, and G. Milligan, Tailoring cAMP-signalling responses through isoform multiplicity, Trends Biochem Sci 22 (1997) 217-224.

[124] K. Tasken, and E. M. Aandahl, Localized effects of cAMP mediated by distinct routes of protein kinase A, Physiol Rev 84 (2004) 137-167.

[125] G. S. Baillie, J. D. Scott, and M. D. Houslay, Compartmentalisation of phosphodiesterases and protein kinase A: opposites attract, FEBS Lett 579 (2005) 3264-3270.

[126] V. Manganiello, and M. Vaughan, An effect of dexamethasone on adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate content and adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate phosphodiesterase activity of cultured hepatoma cells, J Clin Invest 51 (1972) 2763-2767.

[127] R. W. Butcher, and E. W. Sutherland, Adenosine 3',5'-phosphate in biological materials. I. Purification and properties of cyclic 3',5'-nucleotide phosphodiesterase and use of this enzyme to characterize adenosine 3',5'-phosphate in human urine, J Biol Chem 237 (1962) 1244-1250.

[128] A. T. Bender, and J. A. Beavo, Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: molecular regulation to clinical use, Pharmacol Rev 58 (2006) 488-520.

[129] K. Omori, and J. Kotera, Overview of PDEs and their regulation, Circ Res 100 (2007) 309-327.

[130] R. Fischmeister, L. R. Castro, A. Abi-Gerges, F. Rochais, J. Jurevicius, J. Leroy, and G. Vandecasteele, Compartmentation of cyclic nucleotide signaling in the heart: the role of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases, Circ Res 99 (2006) 816-828.

[131] E. G. Loten, and J. G. Sneyd, An effect of insulin on adipose-tissue adenosine 3':5'-cyclic monophosphate phosphodiesterase, Biochem J 120 (1970) 187-193.

[132] V. Manganiello, and M. Vaughan, An effect of insulin on cyclic adenosine 3':5'-monophosphate phosphodiesterase activity in fat cells, J Biol Chem 248 (1973) 7164-7170.

[133] T. Kono, F. W. Robinson, and J. A. Sarver, Insulin-sensitive phosphodiesterase. Its localization, hormonal stimulation, and oxidative stabilization, J Biol Chem 250 (1975) 7826-7835.

[134] E. Degerman, P. Belfrage, A. H. Newman, K. C. Rice, and V. C. Manganiello, Purification of the putative hormone-sensitive cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase from rat adipose tissue using a derivative of cilostamide as a novel affinity ligand, J Biol Chem 262 (1987) 5797-5807.

[135] E. Meacci, M. Taira, M. Moos, Jr., C. J. Smith, M. A. Movsesian, E. Degerman, P. Belfrage, and V. Manganiello, Molecular cloning and expression of human myocardial cGMP-inhibited cAMP phosphodiesterase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89 (1992) 3721-3725.

[136] M. Taira, S. C. Hockman, J. C. Calvo, P. Belfrage, and V. C. Manganiello, Molecular cloning of the rat adipocyte hormone-sensitive cyclic GMP-inhibited cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, J Biol Chem 268 (1993) 18573-18579.

[137] Y. H. Choi, D. Ekholm, J. Krall, F. Ahmad, E. Degerman, V. C. Manganiello, and M. A. Movsesian, Identification of a novel isoform of the cyclic-nucleotide phosphodiesterase PDE3A expressed in vascular smoothmuscle myocytes, Biochem J 353 (2001) 41-50.

[138] J. Wechsler, Y. H. Choi, J. Krall, F. Ahmad, V. C. Manganiello, and M. A. Movsesian, Isoforms of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase PDE3A in cardiac myocytes, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 38072-38078.

[139] Y. Shakur, K. Takeda, Y. Kenan, Z. X. Yu, G. Rena, D. Brandt, M. D. Houslay, E. Degerman, V. J. Ferrans, and V. C. Manganiello, Membrane localization of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3 (PDE3). Two N-terminal domains are required for the efficient targeting to, and association of, PDE3 with endoplasmic reticulum, J Biol Chem 275 (2000) 38749-38761.

[140] R. R. Reinhardt, E. Chin, J. Zhou, M. Taira, T. Murata, V. C. Manganiello, and C. A. Bondy, Distinctive anatomical patterns of gene expression for cGMP-inhibited cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases, J Clin Invest 95 (1995) 1528-1538.

[141] A. Z. Zhao, H. Zhao, J. Teague, W. Fujimoto, and J. A. Beavo, Attenuation of insulin secretion by insulin-like growth factor 1 is mediated through activation of phosphodiesterase 3B, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94 (1997) 3223-3228.

[142] D. H. Maurice, D. Palmer, D. G. Tilley, H. A. Dunkerley, S. J. Netherton, D. R. Raymond, H. S. Elbatarny, and S. L. Jimmo, Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase activity, expression, and targeting in cells of the cardiovascular system, Mol Pharmacol 64 (2003) 533-546.

[143] S. Masciarelli, K. Horner, C. Liu, S. H. Park, M. Hinckley, S. Hockman, T. Nedachi, C. Jin, M. Conti, and V. Manganiello, Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3A-deficient mice as a model of female infertility, J Clin Invest 114 (2004) 196-205.

[144] R. Hambleton, J. Krall, E. Tikishvili, M. Honeggar, F. Ahmad, V. C. Manganiello, and M. A. Movsesian, Isoforms of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase PDE3 and their contribution to cAMP hydrolytic activity in subcellular fractions of human myocardium, J Biol Chem 280 (2005) 39168-39174.

[145] H. Eriksson, M. Ridderstrale, E. Degerman, D. Ekholm, C. J. Smith, V. C. Manganiello, P. Belfrage, and H. Tornqvist, Evidence for the key role of the adipocyte cGMP-inhibited cAMP phosphodiesterase in the antilipolytic action of insulin, Biochim Biophys Acta 1266 (1995) 101-107.

[146] M. L. Elks, and V. C. Manganiello, Antilipolytic action of insulin: role of cAMP phosphodiesterase activation, Endocrinology 116 (1985) 2119-2121.

[147] E. Hagstrom-Toft, J. Bolinder, S. Eriksson, and P. Arner, Role of phosphodiesterase III in the antilipolytic effect of insulin in vivo, Diabetes 44 (1995) 1170-1175.

[148] E. Zmuda-Trzebiatowska, A. Oknianska, V. Manganiello, and E. Degerman, Role of PDE3B in insulin-induced glucose uptake, GLUT-4 translocation and lipogenesis in primary rat adipocytes, Cell Signal 18 (2006) 382-390.

[149] E. Zmuda-Trzebiatowska, V. Manganiello, and E. Degerman, Novel mechanisms of the regulation of protein kinase B in adipocytes; implications for protein kinase A, Epac, phosphodiesterases 3 and 4, Cell Signal 19 (2007) 81-86.

[150] J. W. Eriksson, C. Wesslau, and U. Smith, The cGMP-inhibitable phosphodiesterase modulates glucose transport activation by insulin, Biochim Biophys Acta 1189 (1994) 163-167.

[151] L. Cong, K. Chen, J. Li, P. Gao, Q. Li, S. Mi, X. Wu, and A. Z. Zhao, Regulation of adiponectin and leptin secretion and expression by insulin through a PI3K-PDE3B dependent mechanism in rat primary adipocytes, Biochem J 403 (2007) 519-525.

[152] H. W. Weber, F. Z. Chung, K. Day, and M. M. Appleman, Insulin stimulation of cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase is independent from the G-protein pathways involved in adenylate cyclase regulation, J Cyclic Nucleotide Protein Phosphor Res 11 (1986) 345-354.

[153] B. Zinman, and C. H. Hollenberg, Effect of insulin and lipolytic agents on rat adipocyte low Km cyclic adenosine 3':5'-monophosphate phosphodiesterase, J Biol Chem 249 (1974) 2182-2187.

[154] C. J. Smith, and V. C. Manganiello, Role of hormone-sensitive low Km cAMP phosphodiesterase in regulation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase and lipolysis in rat adipocytes, Mol Pharmacol 35 (1989) 381-386.

[155] C. M. Heyworth, A. V. Wallace, and M. D. Houslay, Insulin and glucagon regulate the activation of two distinct membrane-bound cyclic AMP phosphodiesterases in hepatocytes, Biochem J 214 (1983) 99-110.

[156] A. Z. Zhao, M. M. Shinohara, D. Huang, M. Shimizu, H. Eldar-Finkelman, E. G. Krebs, J. A. Beavo, and K. E. Bornfeldt, Leptin induces insulin-like signaling that antagonizes cAMP elevation by glucagon in hepatocytes, J Biol Chem 275 (2000) 11348-11354.

[157] V. Geoffroy, F. Fouque, C. Lugnier, B. Desbuquois, and C. Benelli, Characterization of an in vivo hormonally regulated phosphodiesterase 3 (PDE3) associated with a liver Golgi-endosomal fraction, Arch Biochem Biophys 387 (2001) 154-162.

[158] S. J. Beebe, J. B. Redmon, P. F. Blackmore, and J. D. Corbin, Discriminative insulin antagonism of stimulatory effects of various cAMP analogs on adipocyte lipolysis and hepatocyte glycogenolysis, J Biol Chem 260 (1985) 15781-15788.

[159] M. Abdollahi, T. S. Chan, V. Subrahmanyam, and P. J. O'Brien, Effects of phosphodiesterase 3,4,5 inhibitors on hepatocyte cAMP levels,

glycogenolysis, gluconeogenesis and susceptibility to a mitochondrial toxin, Mol Cell Biochem 252 (2003) 205-211.

[160] J. C. Parker, M. A. VanVolkenburg, N. A. Nardone, D. M. Hargrove, and K. M. Andrews, Modulation of insulin secretion and glycemia by selective inhibition of cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase III, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236 (1997) 665-669.

[161] B. D. Alberts B., Lewis J., et al, Molecular biology of the cell, in, Garland Publishing Inc., New York, 1994, pp. 579-580.

[162] L. Harndahl, N. Wierup, S. Enerback, H. Mulder, V. C. Manganiello, F. Sundler, E. Degerman, B. Ahren, and L. S. Holst, Beta-cell-targeted overexpression of phosphodiesterase 3B in mice causes impaired insulin secretion, glucose intolerance, and deranged islet morphology, J Biol Chem 279 (2004) 15214-15222.

[163] L. Harndahl, X. J. Jing, R. Ivarsson, E. Degerman, B. Ahren, V. C. Manganiello, E. Renstrom, and L. S. Holst, Important role of phosphodiesterase 3B for the stimulatory action of cAMP on pancreatic beta-cell exocytosis and release of insulin, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 37446-37455.

[164] A. Z. Zhao, K. E. Bornfeldt, and J. A. Beavo, Leptin inhibits insulin secretion by activation of phosphodiesterase 3B, J Clin Invest 102 (1998) 869-873.

[165] H. A. Walz, N. Wierup, J. Vikman, V. C. Manganiello, E. Degerman, L. Eliasson, and L. S. Holst, beta-cell PDE3B regulates Ca(2+)-stimulated exocytosis of insulin, Cell Signal 19 (2007) 1505-1513.

[166] A. Z. Zhao, J. N. Huan, S. Gupta, R. Pal, and A. Sahu, A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase phosphodiesterase 3B-cyclic AMP pathway in hypothalamic action of leptin on feeding, Nat Neurosci 5 (2002) 727-728.

[167] M. El-Metwally, R. Shafiee-Nick, N. J. Pyne, and B. L. Furman, The effect of selective phosphodiesterase inhibitors on plasma insulin concentrations and insulin secretion in vitro in the rat, Eur J Pharmacol 324 (1997) 227-232.

[168] P. Cheung, G. Yang, and G. Boden, Milrinone, a selective phosphodiesterase 3 inhibitor, stimulates lipolysis, endogenous glucose production, and insulin secretion, Metabolism 52 (2003) 1496-1500.

[169] G. Yang, and L. Li, In vivo effects of phosphodiesterase III inhibitors on glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity, J Chin Med Assoc 66 (2003) 210-216.

[170] Y. H. Choi, S. Park, S. Hockman, E. Zmuda-Trzebiatowska, F. Svennelid, M. Haluzik, O. Gavrilova, F. Ahmad, L. Pepin, M. Napolitano, M. Taira, F. Sundler, L. Stenson Holst, E. Degerman, and V. C. Manganiello, Alterations in regulation of energy homeostasis in cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B-null mice, J Clin Invest 116 (2006) 3240-3251.

[171] P. Engfeldt, P. Arner, J. Bolinder, and J. Ostman, Phosphodiesterase activity in human subcutaneous adipose tissue in insulin- and noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 55 (1982) 983-988.

[172] Y. Tang, H. Osawa, H. Onuma, T. Nishimiya, M. Ochi, and H. Makino, Improvement in insulin resistance and the restoration of reduced phosphodiesterase 3B gene expression by pioglitazone in adipose tissue of obese diabetic KKAy mice, Diabetes 48 (1999) 1830-1835.

[173] Y. Tang, H. Osawa, H. Onuma, T. Nishimiya, M. Ochi, A. Sugita, and H. Makino, Phosphodiesterase 3B gene expression is enhanced in the liver but reduced in the adipose tissue of obese insulin resistant db/db mouse, Diabetes Res Clin Pract 54 (2001) 145-155.

[174] Y. Tang, H. Osawa, H. Onuma, M. Hasegawa, T. Nishimiya, M. Ochi, and H. Makino, Adipocyte-specific reduction of phosphodiesterase 3B gene expression and its restoration by JTT-501 in the obese, diabetic KKAy mouse, Eur J Endocrinol 145 (2001) 93-99.

[175] A. Oknianska, E. Zmuda-Trzebiatowska, V. Manganiello, and E. Degerman, Long-term regulation of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase type 3B and 4 in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 353 (2007) 1080-1085.

[176] T. Rahn Landstrom, J. Mei, M. Karlsson, V. Manganiello, and E. Degerman, Down-regulation of cyclic-nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B in 3T3-L1 adipocytes induced by tumour necrosis factor alpha and cAMP, Biochem J 346 Pt 2 (2000) 337-343.

[177] J. Mei, L. S. Holst, T. R. Landstrom, C. Holm, D. Brindley, V. Manganiello, and E. Degerman, C(2)-ceramide influences the expression and insulin-mediated regulation of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B and lipolysis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, Diabetes 51 (2002) 631-637.

[178] H. Liu, J. R. Tang, E. Degerman, and V. C. Manganiello, Identification of promoter elements in 5'-flanking region of murine cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B gene, Methods Mol Biol 307 (2005) 109-124.

[179] H. Liu, J. R. Tang, Y. H. Choi, M. Napolitano, S. Hockman, M. Taira, E. Degerman, and V. C. Manganiello, Importance of cAMP-response elementbinding protein in regulation of expression of the murine cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B (Pde3b) gene in differentiating 3T3-L1 preadipocytes, J Biol Chem 281 (2006) 21096-21113.

[180] E. Degerman, C. J. Smith, H. Tornqvist, V. Vasta, P. Belfrage, and V. C. Manganiello, Evidence that insulin and isoprenaline activate the cGMP-inhibited low-Km cAMP phosphodiesterase in rat fat cells by phosphorylation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87 (1990) 533-537.

[181] A. Rascon, E. Degerman, M. Taira, E. Meacci, C. J. Smith, V. Manganiello, P. Belfrage, and H. Tornqvist, Identification of the phosphorylation site in vitro for cAMP-dependent protein kinase on the rat
adipocyte cGMP-inhibited cAMP phosphodiesterase, J Biol Chem 269 (1994) 11962-11966.

[182] T. Rahn, L. Ronnstrand, M. J. Leroy, C. Wernstedt, H. Tornqvist, V. C. Manganiello, P. Belfrage, and E. Degerman, Identification of the site in the cGMP-inhibited phosphodiesterase phosphorylated in adipocytes in response to insulin and isoproterenol, J Biol Chem 271 (1996) 11575-11580.

[183] T. Kitamura, Y. Kitamura, S. Kuroda, Y. Hino, M. Ando, K. Kotani, H. Konishi, H. Matsuzaki, U. Kikkawa, W. Ogawa, and M. Kasuga, Insulininduced phosphorylation and activation of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B by the serine-threonine kinase Akt, Mol Cell Biol 19 (1999) 6286-6296.

[184] H. Shibata, F. W. Robinson, T. R. Soderling, and T. Kono, Effects of okadaic acid on insulin-sensitive cAMP phosphodiesterase in rat adipocytes. Evidence that insulin may stimulate the enzyme by phosphorylation, J Biol Chem 266 (1991) 17948-17953.

[185] S. Resjo, A. Oknianska, S. Zolnierowicz, V. Manganiello, and E. Degerman, Phosphorylation and activation of phosphodiesterase type 3B (PDE3B) in adipocytes in response to serine/threonine phosphatase inhibitors: deactivation of PDE3B in vitro by protein phosphatase type 2A, Biochem J 341 (Pt 3) (1999) 839-845.

[186] T. Rahn, M. Ridderstrale, H. Tornqvist, V. Manganiello, G. Fredrikson, P. Belfrage, and E. Degerman, Essential role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in insulin-induced activation and phosphorylation of the cGMP-inhibited cAMP phosphodiesterase in rat adipocytes. Studies using the selective inhibitor wortmannin, FEBS Lett 350 (1994) 314-318.

[187] J. Wijkander, T. R. Landstrom, V. Manganiello, P. Belfrage, and E. Degerman, Insulin-induced phosphorylation and activation of phosphodiesterase 3B in rat adipocytes: possible role for protein kinase B but not mitogen-activated protein kinase or p70 S6 kinase, Endocrinology 139 (1998) 219-227.

[188] F. Ahmad, L. N. Cong, L. Stenson Holst, L. M. Wang, T. Rahn Landstrom, J. H. Pierce, M. J. Quon, E. Degerman, and V. C. Manganiello, Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B is a downstream target of protein kinase B and may be involved in regulation of effects of protein kinase B on thymidine incorporation in FDCP2 cells, J Immunol 164 (2000) 4678-4688.

[189] Y. Kenan, T. Murata, Y. Shakur, E. Degerman, and V. C. Manganiello, Functions of the N-terminal region of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3 (PDE 3) isoforms, J Biol Chem 275 (2000) 12331-12338.

[190] C. M. Rondinone, E. Carvalho, T. Rahn, V. C. Manganiello, E. Degerman, and U. P. Smith, Phosphorylation of PDE3B by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase associated with the insulin receptor, J Biol Chem 275 (2000) 10093-10098.

[191] H. Onuma, H. Osawa, K. Yamada, T. Ogura, F. Tanabe, D. K. Granner, and H. Makino, Identification of the insulin-regulated interaction of phosphodiesterase 3B with 14-3-3 beta protein, Diabetes 51 (2002) 3362-3367. [192] H. Onuma, H. Osawa, T. Ogura, F. Tanabe, W. Nishida, and H. Makino, A newly identified 50 kDa protein, which is associated with phosphodiesterase 3B, is phosphorylated by insulin in rat adipocytes, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 337 (2005) 976-982.

[193] J. A. Chavez, S. Gridley, H. Sano, W. S. Lane, and G. E. Lienhard, The 47kDa Akt substrate associates with phosphodiesterase 3B and regulates its level in adipocytes, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 342 (2006) 1218-1222.

[194] P. Voigt, M. B. Dorner, and M. Schaefer, Characterization of p87PIKAP, a novel regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma that is highly expressed in heart and interacts with PDE3B, J Biol Chem 281 (2006) 9977-9986.

[195] P. Cohen, The regulation of protein function by multisite phosphorylation--a 25 year update, Trends Biochem Sci 25 (2000) 596-601.

[196] J. C. Obenauer, L. C. Cantley, and M. B. Yaffe, Scansite 2.0: Proteomewide prediction of cell signaling interactions using short sequence motifs, Nucleic Acids Res 31 (2003) 3635-3641.

[197] S. K. Moule, G. I. Welsh, N. J. Edgell, E. J. Foulstone, C. G. Proud, and R. M. Denton, Regulation of protein kinase B and glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin and beta-adrenergic agonists in rat epididymal fat cells. Activation of protein kinase B by wortmannin-sensitive and -insensitive mechanisms, J Biol Chem 272 (1997) 7713-7719.

[198] N. G. Anderson, E. Kilgour, and M. D. Houslay, Subcellular localization and hormone sensitivity of adipocyte cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase, Biochem J 262 (1989) 867-872.

[199] M. J. Leroy, E. Degerman, M. Taira, T. Murata, L. H. Wang, M. A. Movsesian, E. Meacci, and V. C. Manganiello, Characterization of two recombinant PDE3 (cGMP-inhibited cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase) isoforms, RcGIP1 and HcGIP2, expressed in NIH 3006 murine fibroblasts and Sf9 insect cells, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 10194-10202.

[200] H. Makino, and T. Kono, Characterization of insulin-sensitive phosphodiesterase in fat cells. II. Comparison of enzyme activities stimulated by insulin and by isoproterenol, J Biol Chem 255 (1980) 7850-7854.

[201] S. Parpal, M. Karlsson, H. Thorn, and P. Stralfors, Cholesterol depletion disrupts caveolae and insulin receptor signaling for metabolic control via insulin receptor substrate-1, but not for mitogen-activated protein kinase control, J Biol Chem 276 (2001) 9670-9678.

[202] M. Karlsson, H. Thorn, A. Danielsson, K. G. Stenkula, A. Ost, J. Gustavsson, F. H. Nystrom, and P. Stralfors, Colocalization of insulin receptor and insulin receptor substrate-1 to caveolae in primary human adipocytes.

73

Cholesterol depletion blocks insulin signalling for metabolic and mitogenic control, Eur J Biochem 271 (2004) 2471-2479.

74